
Vale of White Horse District Council
Council agenda - Wednesday, 9 October 2019

Page 1

Council Agenda
Contact: Steven Corrigan, Democratic Services Manager
Telephone number 01235 422526
Email: steven.corrigan@southandvale.gov.uk
Date: 1 October  2019
Website: www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk

Summons to attend
a meeting of Council
to be held on Wednesday 9 October 2019 at 7.00 pm 
The Ridgeway, The Beacon, Portway, Wantage, OX12 9BY

Margaret Reed
Head of Legal and Democratic 

Alternative formats of this publication are available on request.  These 
include large print, Braille, audio, email and easy read. For this or any 
other special requirements (such as access facilities) please contact 
the officer named on this agenda.  Please give as much notice as 
possible before the meeting.

mailto:carole.nicholl@whitehorsedc.gov.uk
http://www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/


Vale of White Horse District Council
Council agenda - Wednesday, 9 October 2019

Page 2

Agenda
Open to the public including the press

1. Apologies for absence 
  
To record apologies for absence.

2. Minutes 
(Pages 8 - 22) 
 
To adopt and sign as a correct record the Council minutes of the meeting held on 17 July 
2019 – attached.  

3. Declarations of disclosable pecuniary interest 
  
To receive any declarations of disclosable pecuniary interests in respect of items on the 
agenda for this meeting.   

4. Urgent business and chairman's announcements 
  
To receive notification of any matters which the chairman determines should be 
considered as urgent business and the special circumstances which have made the 
matters urgent, and to receive any announcements from the chairman.  

5. Public participation 
  
To receive any questions or statements from members of the public that have registered 
to speak.  

6. Petitions 
  
To receive any petitions from the public.  

7. Local Plan 2031 Part 2 - options for adoption 
(Pages 23 - 83) 
 

At its meeting on 4 October Cabinet will consider a report on the options for the 
adoption of the Local Plan 2031 Part 2. The report, which Cabinet will consider at its 
meeting, is attached. 

The Scrutiny Committee considered a similar report at its meeting on 19 September 
and raised a number of concerns which are addressed in the Cabinet report.

The recommendations will be circulated to all councillors on 4 October.



Vale of White Horse District Council
Council agenda - Wednesday, 9 October 2019

Page 3

8. Budget for replacement CCTV equipment 
(Pages 84 - 101) 
 

At its meeting on 4 October Cabinet will consider a report on the procurement of new 
CCTV recording and monitoring equipment for the CCTV control room. The report, 
which Cabinet will consider at its meeting, is attached. 

The recommendations will be circulated to all councillors on 4 October.

9. Review of political balance 
(Pages 102 - 107) 
 
To consider the report of the head of legal and democratic – attached.

10. Constitution Review Task Group 
  
Council is invited to agree the establishment of a joint Constitution Review Task Group 
with South Oxfordshire District Council to undertake a review of the constitution and 
make recommendations to Council. 

Officers propose that the task group comprises 10 councillors with five from South 
Oxfordshire and five from Vale of White Horse. Officers propose that each political group 
from South Oxfordshire is entitled to appoint one member.

RECOMMENDATION: That Council
1. establishes a joint Constitution Review Task Group with South Oxfordshire District 

Council comprising five councillors from each council;
2. allocates three seats to the Liberal Democrat Group and two seats to the 

Conservative Group and appoints councillors as set out in the schedule circulated 
at the meeting;

3. agrees that councillors from the same political group on the council may substitute 
for this council’s appointed representatives.

11. Appointment of substitute member to the Thames Valley Police 
and Crime 

  
At its meeting on 17 July 2019, Council appointed Councillor Ruth Molyneaux as the 
substitute member on the Thames Valley Police and Crime Panel. In light of the recent 
change to Cabinet membership Council is invited to appoint Councillor Jenny Hannaby, 
who now has responsibility for community safety, as the substitute member. 

RECOMMENDATION: to appoint Councillor Jenny Hannaby as the substitute member 
on the Thames Valley Police and Crime Panel.

12. Appointment of independent persons to advise on code of 
conduct issues 

(Pages 108 - 109) 
 
To consider the report of the head of legal and democratic and monitoring officer on 



Vale of White Horse District Council
Council agenda - Wednesday, 9 October 2019

Page 4

extending the term of office of two independent persons to advise on code of conduct 
issues – attached.

13. Report of the leader of the council 
  
To receive any updates from the leader of the council.  

14. Motions on notice 
  
To consider motions from councillors in accordance with Council procedure rule 38.  

1. Motion to be proposed by Councillor Judy Roberts and seconded by Councillor 
Neil Fawcett 

Council notes that a hierarchy of organisations has grown up which influence regional 
development, some more accountable than others. These are collectively making 
increasing incursions into the decision-making abilities of elected local councils and 
placing significant growth demands on our districts. 

These organisations or bodies include: 
 England’s Economic Heartland 
 The Oxford-Cambridge Arc Region
 The Oxfordshire Growth Board (and associated Oxfordshire 2050 Joint Statutory 

Spatial Plan) 
 OxLEP (and the Local Industrial Strategy) 

Council notes that officers and members attend meetings related to these bodies, and 
welcomes the opportunity for regional collaboration, as many of us share the same 
concerns, but wishes to update its formal position to assist those representing our district. 

This Council believes that development within our district must balance the needs of 
people and their communities, the environment and the local economy. Specifically, it 
should contribute to this Council’s (and the Government’s) commitment to carbon 
neutrality.

It should be based on genuine consultation and demonstrable public support. 

It should ensure that infrastructure, both strategic and local, is in place to support 
development, with the aim of building communities, not just houses. 

This Council supports the following approaches in relation to regional economic 
growth: 

1. Planned development should demonstrate how it will help our economy move 
towards its zero-carbon target

2. Housing targets should be based on an up-to-date objective assessment of need 
3. Planned housing should reflect the needs of the local community, offering a range 

of sizes and tenures including genuinely affordable housing to buy, and rent at 
affordable and social rates

4. Housing developments should be sited near to existing or proposed public, mass 
and active transport facilities, not based on ever increasing road traffic 



Vale of White Horse District Council
Council agenda - Wednesday, 9 October 2019

Page 5

5. Seek greater developer contributions to expand rail capacity and bus services and 
cycle paths

6. All housebuilding and other development should meet zero-carbon standards or 
better. 

7. Strategic planning should reduce the need to travel by building homes near to 
employment sites

8. The priority for transport investment should be in the rail network (e.g. an 
electrified East-West rail, electrification of the Didcot-Oxford line, re-opening of 
Grove Station), improved bus (and similar) services, and substantial investment in 
‘active travel’ – including cycle and pedestrian infrastructure - within and between 
settlements

9. Opposition to the proposed Oxford-Cambridge Expressway
10. Increasing biodiversity, protecting landscapes, capturing carbon naturally and 

increasing access for residents to green spaces
11.Genuine consultation with the public on the rate of growth and housing 

development to produce plans that carry genuine public support
12.Genuine democratic accountability and scrutiny for any plans or strategies that 

come forward (i.e. we do not support basing spatial planning solely on the Local 
Industrial Strategy which faced no democratic scrutiny.) 

13.Spatial planning decisions to be informed by strong evidence  
14.Flexibility in plans and strategies in order to take account of changing 

circumstances and public opinion

This Council is positive about working with other Oxfordshire authorities, regional 
colleagues and the Government to deliver growth where it is sustainable, and to provide 
housing that meets residents’ needs. Strategies and plans to achieve this should be 
based on the above positions.

2. Motion to be proposed by Councillor Bob Johnston and seconded by 
Councillor Cheryl Briggs

The Vale of White Horse District Council welcomes the progress made on climate 
change in as much as Environmental, Social and Governance issues are now recognised 
as a risk to the Oxfordshire Local Government Pension Scheme.  However, it would now 
like matters to be taken further.

Council requests that the Leader writes to the Chair of the Oxfordshire Pensions 
Committee asking them to consider as part of its new investment strategy for the Brunel 
Partnership investing in a passive low carbon fund, now that one is available, and that 
generates similar financial returns to the wider investment market.

3. Motion proposed by Councillor Sarah Medley and seconded by Councillor 
Amos Duveen

Council notes that Non-UK EU nationals are part of our shared communities. They are 
our husbands, wives, parents, friends and colleagues. They are an integral part of our 
vibrant and thriving district and local economy. 

Since 2016 EU nationals were promised again and again that "there will be no change for 
EU citizens already lawfully resident in the UK and […] will be treated no less favourably 
as they are at present”. After three years of living in limbo, their homes and livelihoods 



Vale of White Horse District Council
Council agenda - Wednesday, 9 October 2019

Page 6

are yet again being threatened by the further uncertainty brought about by the prospect 
of a chaotic no-deal Brexit. 

Council recognises that some businesses in the Vale report that the uncertainty around 
Brexit is making it harder for them to recruit and retain staff who are non-UK EU 
nationals.

Council notes that much work has been undertaken, and significant cost to the public 
purse, by this council and other public bodies to ensure it can maintain access to key 
services, should Brexit happen.

But, according to the Home Office’s June statistics, only a third of non-UK EU nationals 
had applied for Settled Status and many of them had been granted the inferior Pre-
Settled. There is no way of knowing exactly how many EU nationals need to apply, 
leaving vulnerable non-UK EU nationals at risk of becoming unlawful residents. Lack of 
clarity regarding differentiating between EU citizens arriving before and after the UK’s exit 
from the EU could lead to discrimination in the labour market and may prevent many from 
accessing the services that they are entitled to. 

Therefore, Council asks that: 
1. Officers prepare a report to the Leader (to be shared with all members) on what 

more the Council may be able to do to mitigate adverse impacts on the rights of 
non-UK EU nationals (including but not limited to, informing landlords and 
employers about immigration status and therefore avoid potential discrimination 
against non-UK EU nationals) 

2. The Leader of the Council writes to the Home Secretary to ask that the current 
European Settlement Scheme is clarified by: 

a. Providing a clear deadline for application to the EUSS in case of no-deal 
exit from the EU 

b. Providing physical proof of settled status that can be used to access 
services

c. Confirming that there will be no changes to the rights of settled non-UK EU 
citizens that they currently have by ratifying the Immigration Bill as primary 
legislation before the exit day

4. Motion to be proposed by Councillor Andrew Crawford and seconded by 
Councillor Patrick O’Leary 
Council notes that the re-routing arrangements for scheduled closures of the A34 in 
southern Oxfordshire are creating a totally intolerable blight on the lives of many of the 
residents of Wantage, Charlton Ward and further afield. These closures, which typically 
operate between 10pm and 6am, re-route traffic on to the A338 and the A417. In the 3 
months to the end of October 2019 closures will have occurred on 25 occasions. 
Council further notes that the consequence of these arrangements are to divert very 
high volumes of traffic, much of it heavy commercial, from a Designated Primary Route 
to minor roads, occasionally single lane, not considered suitable for heavy traffic in 
built up residential areas. Residents of impacted houses report that this creates 
intolerable noise, sleep deprivation and vibration and structural damage to properties, 
as many of their homes are only a matter of feet away from the highway. Council is 
also aware that the diversions create significant road safety issues and that damage 
has occurred to Infrastructure and other vehicles. 



Vale of White Horse District Council
Council agenda - Wednesday, 9 October 2019

Page 7

Council is aware that previously, when OCC was responsible for maintaining the A34, 
the official diversion was via the A420, itself a designated Primary Route, but that 
following the transfer of responsibility to Highways England, and its contractor Kier 
Group plc, this policy was altered. Furthermore, Council is concerned that any future 
re-routing scheme via the A420 may be ineffective if it is advisory and voluntary rather 
than mandatory. 

Therefore, Council requests that the Scrutiny Committee consider including this matter 
in their work programme, noting that Scrutiny has the power to invite parties such as 
Highways England, OCC, Thames Valley Police, Kier Group plc and Wantage Traffic 
Diversion Group to attend any such meeting.  

15. Questions on notice 
  
No questions from were submitted from councillors in accordance with Council procedure 
rule 33.  



Vale of White Horse District Council – Council minutes 

Wednesday, 17 July 2019 Co.1

Minutes
of a meeting of the
Council
held on Wednesday 17 July 2019 at 7.00 pm
at The Ridgeway, The Beacon, Portway, Wantage, OX12 9BY 

Open to the public, including the press

Present: 

Members: Councillors Margaret Crick (Chair), Jerry Avery, Paul Barrow, Ron Batstone, 
Eric Batts, Samantha Bowring, Nathan Boyd, Andy Cooke, Andrew Crawford, 
Amos Duveen, Neil Fawcett, Andy Foulsham, Hayleigh Gascoigne, David Grant, 
Debby Hallett, Jenny Hannaby, Simon Howell, Alison Jenner, Bob Johnston, 
Diana Lugova, Robert Maddison, Sarah Medley, Ruth Molyneaux, Patrick O'Leary, 
Helen Pighills, Mike Pighills, Judy Roberts, Emily Smith, Bethia Thomas, Max Thompson, 
Elaine Ware, Catherine Webber and Richard Webber

Officers: Steven Corrigan, Andrew Down and Margaret Reed

Number of members of the public: 15

Co.12 Apologies for absence 

Apologies were submitted on behalf of councillors Barber, Briggs, de la Harpe, Shaw 
and Shelley.

Co.13 Minutes 

RESOLVED: to approve the minutes of the annual meeting of Council held on 15 May 
2019 as a correct record and agree that the chair sign them as such.

Co.14 Declarations of disclosable pecuniary interest 

None.

Co.15 Urgent business and chair's announcements 

The chair advised that her chosen charities for her year in office will be Practical 
Action, a charity that works to alleviate poverty in some of the poorest parts of the 
world and the Earth Trust at Little Wittenham.

She advised that Councillor Emily Smith, Leader of the council, and Councillor Simon 
Howell, Leader of the Conservative Group, had agreed to trial a process for councillor 
questions whereby written responses are circulated to all councillors in advance of the 

Page 8

Agenda Item 2



Vale of White Horse District Council – Council minutes 

Wednesday, 17 July 2019 Co.2

Council meeting. These were circulated to all councillors on Tuesday 16 July with 
copies made available for members of the public. In light of this she sought, and 
received, Council’s agreement to suspend Council Procedure Rule 36, which specifies 
how questions may be answered.  

Co.16 Public participation 

1. Mr Pete Underwood, representing Abingdon Extinction Rebellion, made 
the following statement 

“Good evening. I’m Pete Underwood, one of the coordinators of Abingdon’s Extinction 
Rebellion group and we’re keen to establish links with local councils to see how we 
can help collectively address the climate and ecological crises that we’re all facing.
Our presence at this meeting represents the first step at engaging with the Vale of 
White Horse council and we would welcome the opportunity for more detailed 
conversations about how we can assist you. Please feel free to speak with me at the 
end of the meeting if this is something of interest.
With regards to this meeting’s agenda we welcome the proposed opposition to the 
Oxford Cambridge Expressway. We urge the council to oppose this project in the 
strongest possible terms.
The Expressway is a fundamentally flawed concept on many levels, as detailed in the 
agenda and by campaign groups such as the No Expressway Alliance. The 
Expressway completely contradicts the direction we should be taking to mitigate 
climate and ecological disaster and should be stopped.
We also welcome the proposal of a Climate Emergency Advisory Committee and urge 
the council to establish the committee as soon as possible.
Actions must be taken to address the climate and ecological crises and therefore 
talking about carbon neutrality and environmental protection will not be enough. We 
need action.
Therefore, it’s critical that the committee is suitably resourced so that it can be 
effective, and its advice should be taken seriously by the council. Please do not use 
the ‘advisory’ role of the committee as a reason for inaction.
To help the committee with generating advice, we feel that a creating a citizens 
assembly that represents the vale is important and necessary as it will help create 
solutions that work for all of us, not just those with power and a vested interest in 
maintaining the status quo”.

2. Mr Pete Underwood asked the following question:
“Will the council be willing to create a citizens assembly as part of its stakeholder 
engagement in order to help address the climate and ecological crises, whether or not 
the Climate Emergency Advisory Committee is established”?

Councillor Emily Smith responded as follows: 

“Thank you for your question. I agree that it is really important that this council’s 
response to the Climate Emergency includes drawing on ideas from local groups and 
individuals from our communities. 
If the Climate Emergency Advisory Committee gets approved tonight, this will create 
an obvious point of contact between the council and members of the community keen 
to work with us on this agenda. The exact format will need to be agreed by the Chair 
of the new committee, but we have built into the procedure rules the opportunity for 

Page 9



Vale of White Horse District Council – Council minutes 

Wednesday, 17 July 2019 Co.3

anyone to come and address the committee with ideas. I would hope that the 
committee will consider how best to engage with the community. 
As you know, Oxford City have started work on their Citizens Assembly about the 
Climate Emergency. I spoke to the leader of Oxford City a few weeks ago about it. It is 
expensive, the City have budgeted £200,000 to cover the costs – and the Vale would 
not be able to afford that in this financial year. But I am watching with interest how the 
City one works out and I suggest that this is something our new Climate Committee 
liaise with City colleagues about and could consider whether this approach could work 
in the Vale.  
So, I am not in a position to say yes, Vale should have citizens assembly, but I think it 
is an idea worth considering for the future”. 
 

3. Ms Sally Mears asked the following question of Councillor Emily Smith, 
Leader of the council:

 
"Can you guarantee that areas of important conservation and biodiversity along the 
A34 too will have a Strategic Environmental Assessment and will not be harmed (eg 
by housing developments)?" 

Councillor Emily Smith responded as follows: 

“Thank you Sally for your question.
Strategic Environmental Assessments (SEAs), under European Directive, must be 
undertaken on any policy documents that propose development – including any along 
the A34 - to determine the likely environmental impacts. And an assessment of 
appropriate mitigation must be undertaken to address likely environmental impacts.
So, SEAs are undertaken on all of our Local Plan policies and Environmental Impact 
Assessments done for all planning applications for sites above a certain size. But this 
does not include smaller developments.
National planning regulations determine which developments are subject to these 
assessments and the Council has to work within this legislation.  So, in short, I am not 
able to guarantee that SEAs will be carried out on all development sites that may 
come forward along the A34. 
What the council can do, and will be doing, is reviewing our planning policies, and 
introducing new policies to try and strengthen environmental protection. We have 
asked officers to begin work on our next local plan with improving environmental 
sustainability. We are also looking at whether supplementary planning documents can 
be used to ‘hang off’ our existing local plan to increase the council ability to insist on 
more sustainable build standards and increased mitigation of environmental damage. 
Again, new supplementary planning documents are something that a Climate 
Committee would be able to help research and help Councillor Catherine Webber to 
put into place. And I hope that if you, and anyone else, have specific ideas we would 
love to hear about them so that we can see what we might be able to take forward”.   

Co.17 Petitions 

None.

Page 10



Vale of White Horse District Council – Council minutes 

Wednesday, 17 July 2019 Co.4

Co.18 Ashbury Neighbourhood Plan 

Council considered the recommendations of Cabinet, made at its meeting on 12 July 
2019, on making the Ashbury Neighbourhood Development Plan part of the 
development plan for Vale.

RESOLVED to: 

1. make the Ashbury Neighbourhood Development Plan so that it continues to be part 
of the council’s development plan; and 

2. authorise the head of planning, in agreement with the Qualifying Body, to correct 
any spelling, grammatical, typographical or factual errors in the Ashbury 
Neighbourhood Development Plan, together with any improvements from a 
presentational perspective.  

Co.19 Uffington and Baulking Neighbourhood Plan 

Council considered the recommendations of Cabinet, made at its meeting on 12 July 
2019, on making the Uffington and Baulking Neighbourhood Development Plan part of 
the development plan for Vale.

RESOLVED to: 

1. make the Uffington and Baulking Neighbourhood Development Plan so that it 
continues to be part of the council’s development plan; and 

2. authorise the head of planning, in agreement with the Qualifying Body, to correct 
any spelling, grammatical, typographical or factual errors in the Uffington and 
Baulking Neighbourhood Development Plan, together with any improvements from 
a presentational perspective.  

Co.20 Establishment of a Climate Emergency Advisory 
Committee 

Council considered the report of the head of legal and democratic on the 
establishment of a Climate Emergency Advisory Committee.

Councillors welcomed the establishment of the committee to advise on how the 
council can contribute to carbon reduction targets and minimise the damage to the 
environment and reduce damage to the global and local environment through its 
policies and practices.

RESOLVED: to 

1. establish a Climate Emergency Advisory Committee with the terms of reference 
and procedure rules set out in Appendix A to the report of the head of legal and 
democratic to Council on 17 July 2019; 

2. appoint the membership, substitutes, chair and vice-chair as set out in the table 
below; 

Page 11



Vale of White Horse District Council – Council minutes 

Wednesday, 17 July 2019 Co.5

Climate Emergency Advisory Committee, 7 Members

Liberal Democrat (6) Conservative (1)
Amos Duveen (Vice Chair) Eric Batts
David Grant (Chair)
Hayleigh Gascoigne
Eric de la Harpe
Alison Jenner
Max Thompson

Preferred substitutes

Liberal Democrat (6) Conservative (3)
Ron Batstone Nathan Boyd 
Andy Foulsham Simon Howell
Bob Johnston Elaine Ware
Rob Maddison

Sarah Medley
Mike Pighills

3. authorises the head of legal and democratic to incorporate the terms of reference 
and procedure rules set out in Appendix A to the report of the head of legal and 
democratic to Council on 17 July 2019 into the council’s constitution and to make 
any consequential changes to the constitution to reflect the decision of Council.

Co.21 Appointment of substitute members to the Thames Valley 
Police and Crime Panel 

At its annual meeting Council appointed Councillor Neil Fawcett as the council’s 
representative and Councillor Ruth Molyneaux as the observer substitute on the 
Thames Valley Police and Crime Panel. Since that meeting the Thames Valley Police 
and Crime Panel had agreed to change the membership rules of the panel to enable 
all 18 Thames Valley local authorities to appoint a named substitute member to the 
panel who would receive notification of meetings and agenda, and could attend 
meetings of the panel, in the absence of the appointed member. 

RESOLVED: to appoint Councillor Ruth Molyneaux as the substitute member on the 
Thames Valley Police and Crime Panel. 

Co.22 Report of the leader of the council 

Councillor Emily Smith, Leader of the council, addressed Council. The text of her 
report is available on the council’s website.

Page 12

http://www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/news/2019/2019-07/leader%E2%80%99s-report-%E2%80%93-17-july-2019


Vale of White Horse District Council – Council minutes 

Wednesday, 17 July 2019 Co.6

Co.23 Questions on notice 

Question 1: Councillor Simon Howell to Councillor Emily Smith, Leader of the 
council
Officers put in place an excellent and detailed induction programme for new and 
returning councillors. Could the leader of the council summarise the level of 
attendance?

Written answer
There has indeed been a very good programme of training available to members. This 
started on 8 May with two sessions for all our councillors to meet with the Chief 
Executive and Senior Management Team, and other key members of staff, and all 
were allocated a 1:1 ‘Officer Buddy’ as a point of contact. 37 of the 38 councillors 
attended. The one member who missed this slot due to a pre-booked holiday, has had 
a 1:1 catch up session and has the useful induction booklet provided.
Planning training sessions have been attended by 13 councillors – planning committee 
members and some others.
26 councillors attended the Good Governance training held in June. Members who did 
not attend have been provided with the slides from that session and a date for a mop-
up briefing for those who could not attend is being finalised.  

Supplementary question and answer

In response to a supplementary question Councillor Smith confirmed that she will 
provide updates on the progress on the training programme and details of any 
refresher training.
 
Question 2: Councillor Eric Batts to Councillor Catherine Webber, Cabinet 
member for planning.
What is the new administration’s approach to the Local Plan Part 2 now that the 
inspector has found the plan to be sound?

Written answer
The Liberal Democrats were voted into office on May 2 2019 by Vale residents 
because they strongly opposed the proposed Local Plan Part 2 (LPP2) and the 
previously adopted Local Plan Part 1. 
In particular, they opposed the excessively high housing targets, the lack of adequate 
infrastructure, the lack of genuinely affordable homes and the further erosion of the 
Green Belt.
As we have inherited this Local Plan at a stage when it is nearly complete and ready 
to be adopted our options are very limited. 
However, the Inspector’s initial letter in response to Oxford City’s housing figures in 
their proposed Local Plan has cast doubt on the level of Oxford’s unmet need and in 
turn the housing targets on which our own LPP2 is based. 
We are exploring the implications of this and all other legal, social and economic 
ramifications.

Page 13



Vale of White Horse District Council – Council minutes 

Wednesday, 17 July 2019 Co.7

Our intention is to deliver what residents voted for, within the constraints of previous 
decisions and the law. Once we have fully examined the facts and are able to make 
sound decisions, we will notify Council on how we intend to proceed.

Supplementary question and answer

In response to a supplementary question seeking confirmation that councillors will 
have the opportunity to endorse LLP2 in the autumn as notified in a press release, 
Councillor Webber responded that the council would explore the issues, referred to in 
her written response, before Council is invited to make a decision on LLP2.

Question 3: Councillor Elaine Ware to Councillor Emily Smith, Leader of the 
council 
Following the appointment of Cabinet members at the annual meeting of Council, 
could the leader share the rationale for an expanded Cabinet arrangement to the 
maximum size allowed by the constitution?

Written answer
As the question states, the number of Cabinet posts are in line with the constitution 
and national guidelines. But we decided to use all posts allowed in year one because:
1. The problems we have been left by the previous administration are significant. We 

have inherited a desperate lack of truly affordable homes and a lack of 
infrastructure to meet existing need (let alone the levels of housing growth 
committed to the Housing and Growth Deal), and most importantly we need to find 
ways to make savings and generate enough income to make sure the council 
doesn’t run out of money in four years time. If we are to meet these huge 
challenges, as well as develop innovative new policies in line with our priorities 
across the council’s services areas, we need to make sure we have the leadership 
capacity to do that work – particularly in this first year.

2. The previous leader held two portfolios, but officer and Local Government 
Association mentors have advised me that the leader should not also take on a 
portfolio to ensure cover and good governance. 

3. We are a large group in what we intend to be a member-led administration. It’s 
important to me that as many members of our administration as possible are 
involved as much as possible in policy development. The Cabinet system is far 
from ideal and we are looking to review the constitution, including the role and 
structure of cabinet and other positions.

Supplementary question and answer

In response to a supplementary question, Councillor Smith stated that any overspend 
in the councillor allowances budget would be met from reserves.  

Co.24 Motions on notice 

1. Motion proposed by Councillor Nathan Boyd and seconded by Councillor Simon 
Howell:
“Council notes that other neighbouring councils are dealing with their own local plans 
that are at various stages of development, discussion and inspection. Of particular 
note to residents in the Didcot area is the debate and discussion surrounding the 
South Oxfordshire District Council Local Plan.

Page 14



Vale of White Horse District Council – Council minutes 

Wednesday, 17 July 2019 Co.8

This council is very concerned about the impact of decisions taken by South 
Oxfordshire District Council on residents in the Vale of White Horse.

Council requests that the leader of the council urgently writes to the leader of South 
Oxfordshire District Council and all South Oxfordshire councillors before any vote is 
taken on their Local Plan proposals to state the views of this council and the impact on 
residents in the area, specifically:

 This council opposes any withdrawal or major amendments to the South 
Oxfordshire District Council Local Plan that has the consequences of putting at risk 
the Vale of White Horse District Council delivery of the five year land supply, the 
loss of Housing Infrastructure funding for the area, and the loss of Growth Deal 
funding for the area.

 This council urges South Oxfordshire District Council to work collaboratively with 
Vale of White Horse District Council and other stakeholders to ensure the 
infrastructure funding is not delayed. Residents and visitors to the area desperately 
need this investment in infrastructure to be delivered”.

Whilst a number of councillors supported the motion, the majority of councillors, whilst 
understanding the sentiment of the motion in respect of the potential loss of 
infrastructure funding, supported the views expressed that South Oxfordshire District 
Council had every right to review its Local Plan in light of the manifesto commitments 
made at the elections in May and the need to revisit the Oxford City unmet housing 
needs figures. Cabinet members would continue to work with their counterparts at 
South Oxfordshire District Council regarding this issue.  
In accordance with Council Procedure Rule 67, which provides for a recorded vote if 
three members request one, the Chairman called for a recorded vote on the motion 
which was declared lost with the voting as follows:

For Against Abstentions
Councillors Councillors Councillors
Eric Batts Jerry Avery Margaret Crick
Nathan Boyd Paul Barrow
Simon Howell Ron Batstone
Elaine Ware Samantha Bowring 

Andy Cooke
Andrew Crawford
Amos Duveen
Neil Fawcett
Andy Foulsham
Hayleigh Gascoigne
David Grant
Debby Hallett
Jenny Hannaby
Bob Johnston
Alison Jenner
Diana Lugova
Robert Maddison
Sarah Medley
Ruth Molyneaux
Patrick O’Leary
Helen Pighils
Mike Pighills

Page 15



Vale of White Horse District Council – Council minutes 

Wednesday, 17 July 2019 Co.9

For Against Abstentions
Judy Roberts
Emily Smith
Bethia Thomas
Max Thompson
Catherine Webber
Richard Webber

Total: 4 Total: 28 Total: 1

2. Motion proposed by Councillor Alison Jenner seconded by Councillor Andy 
Foulsham
“Council notes that, given all possible routes through the government’s chosen 
corridor, the Oxford to Cambridge Expressway will have a direct impact on 
communities, businesses, and the environment across the Vale of White Horse 
District. This council should therefore agree a position on this matter. Council notes 
with concern the lack of public consultation and lack of clarity from Government on 
proposals about whether an Expressway is the most effective way to enhance 
connectivity within the Oxford to Cambridge Arc and before Corridor B was chosen.

Council notes that published evidence on similar road building schemes, such as 
widening the M25, led to increased car use without any benefit in terms of congestion 
or journey time after a few years.

Council notes that the increased carbon emissions, damage to our countryside and 
biodiversity associated with road building would be significant.

Council notes our recent declaration of a Climate Emergency and our commitment to 
reducing our carbon footprint through our polices, decisions and actions. The 
Expressway will have a serious negative impact on the achievement of climate change 
targets at a time when all public bodies are being actively encouraged to improve air 
quality and contribute to significant carbon reductions.

Therefore, Council resolves to oppose the Oxford to Cambridge Expressway as 
proposed. Council requests that the leader of the council, and members of the 
Cabinet, make our opposition to the road building scheme clear at relevant partnership 
meetings.

Council requests that the leader of the council write to the district’s two Members of 
Parliament and to the Minister for Transport to make clear this council’s position, as 
set out above, and to request that the following actions be taken:

- That the Expressway proposal be abandoned;

- That the estimated £3-7billion cost of the scheme to be invested instead into    
completing and enhancing phase three of the East-West Rail link and to local 
government to enhance cycle infrastructure and public transport;

- That all new transport schemes proposed by Department for Transport be subject to 
full public consultation and environmental assessments be published from the 
beginning;

Page 16



Vale of White Horse District Council – Council minutes 

Wednesday, 17 July 2019 Co.10

- That the government prioritise rail and sustainable active travel when developing 
policy and awarding grant funding for infrastructure”.

A number of councillors supported the view that the project should be abandoned in 
favour of more sustainable transport projects including the East-West rail link and local 
infrastructure projects to enhance cycling infrastructure and public transport. The 
proposed Expressway offered poor value for money, would have a detrimental impact 
on the environment, increase carbon emissions, worsen air quality, increase 
congestion on the roads in the district and encourage further speculative building. 

An alternative view was expressed that the council should await the details of the 
proposal and options before expressing a view. The proposed road could offer some 
environmental benefits, improve traffic flow and connectivity and improve air quality. 

In accordance with Council Procedure Rule 67, which provides for a recorded vote if 
three members request one, the Chairman called for a recorded vote on the motion 
which was declared carried with the voting as follows:

For Against Abstentions
Councillors Councillors Councillors
Jerry Avery Eric Batts Margaret Crick
Paul Barrow Nathan Boyd
Ron Batstone Simon Howell
Samantha Bowring Elaine Ware
Andy Cooke
Andrew Crawford
Amos Duveen
Neil Fawcett
Andy Foulsham
Hayleigh Gascoigne
David Grant
Debby Hallett
Jenny Hannaby
Bob Johnston
Alison Jenner
Diana Lugova
Robert Maddison
Sarah Medley
Ruth Molyneaux
Patrick O’Leary
Helen Pighils
Mike Pighills
Judy Roberts
Emily Smith
Bethia Thomas
Max Thompson
Catherine Webber
Richard Webber
Total: 28 Total: 4 Total: 1

Page 17



Vale of White Horse District Council – Council minutes 

Wednesday, 17 July 2019 Co.11

RESOLVED: to
1. note that, given all possible routes through the government’s chosen corridor, the 

Oxford to Cambridge Expressway will have a direct impact on communities, 
businesses, and the environment across the Vale of White Horse District. This 
council should therefore agree a position on this matter. Council notes with concern 
the lack of public consultation and lack of clarity from Government on proposals 
about whether an Expressway is the most effective way to enhance connectivity 
within the Oxford to Cambridge Arc and before Corridor B was chosen.

2. note that published evidence on similar road building schemes, such as widening 
the M25, led to increased car use without any benefit in terms of congestion or 
journey time after a few years.

3. note that the increased carbon emissions, damage to our countryside and 
biodiversity associated with road building would be significant.

4. note our recent declaration of a Climate Emergency and our commitment to 
reducing our carbon footprint through our polices, decisions and actions. The 
Expressway will have a serious negative impact on the achievement of climate 
change targets at a time when all public bodies are being actively encouraged to 
improve air quality and contribute to significant carbon reductions.

5. therefore, oppose the Oxford to Cambridge Expressway as proposed and request 
the leader of the council, and members of the Cabinet, to make our opposition to 
the road building scheme clear at relevant partnership meetings.

6. request that the leader of the council write to the district’s two Members of 
Parliament and to the Minister for Transport to make clear this council’s position, as 
set out above, and to request that the following actions be taken:
- That the Expressway proposal be abandoned;

- That the estimated £3-7billion cost of the scheme to be invested instead   into 
completing and enhancing phase three of the East-West Rail link and to local 
government to enhance cycle infrastructure and public transport;

- That all new transport schemes proposed by Department for Transport be 
subject to full public consultation and environmental assessments be published 
from the beginning;

- That the government prioritise rail and sustainable active travel when developing 
policy and awarding grant funding for infrastructure.

3. Motion proposed by Councillor Debby Hallett and seconded by Councillor 
Catherine Webber 

“1. Council notes the inspector’s Report of the Examination of Vale’s Local Plan Part 
2, dated 25 June 2019. In his report, the inspector lists the four objectives of LPP2, 
one of which is to set out policies and locations for new housing to meet the unmet 
need of Oxford City. 

2. Council notes that the inspector (in paragraph 26) reminds us that the Oxfordshire 
Growth Board agreed a ‘working assumption’ that Oxford City’s unmet need was 
15,000 homes, of which Vale should supply 2200 homes over the plan period. He 

Page 18



Vale of White Horse District Council – Council minutes 

Wednesday, 17 July 2019 Co.12

says (in paragraph 28) that this ‘working assumption’ is to be ‘confirmed or adjusted’ 
through the examination of Oxford’s Local Plan and the preparation of Oxfordshire’s 
Joint Statutory Spatial Plan, which is currently in its early stages. He reminds us again 
(in paragraph 92) that the additional housing requirement is a ‘working assumption 
rather than definitive and warrants some caution in allocating sites in the LPP2’. There 
is no guidance or explanation of what this would mean in practice.

3. Council notes that Oxford City has submitted its Local Plan for examination, but the 
inspector has found some issues that require more work before it is ready to be 
examined in public hearings; he discusses the issues in his letter to that council 
(undated, but to be found on Oxford City’s Local Plan examination website page). 
Inspector is concerned that the housing figures are based on figures in the 2014 
SHMA, which are based on 2011 ONS population and household projections that ‘are 
now a few years old’ (page 2). He also points out there may have been double 
counting. Therefore, the housing need figure is questionable. This housing need figure 
‘could have a bearing on the level of unmet need which would have to be 
accommodated by neighbouring local authorities’. 

4. Council notes that LPP2 allocates 1200 homes at Dalton Barracks, for Oxford’s 
unmet need. Dalton Barracks and the neighbouring village of Shippon are to be 
removed from the Green Belt for future housing development. 

5. Council notes that paragraph 137 of the National Planning Policy Framework 
(NPPF) requires Green Belt boundaries to only be modified under exceptional 
circumstances. The inspector for Vale LPP2 says (in paragraph 29) that the housing 
required for Oxford’s unmet need must be close to Oxford, and much of it is to be 
social rented housing. The inspector says (in paragraph 55) that the number of houses 
to meet Oxford’s unmet need, and the fact that they must be near Oxford, 
demonstrates there are exceptional circumstances to justify the removal of Dalton 
Barracks and Shippon from the Green Belt.

6. Council notes that the Campaign to Protect Rural England wrote to the planning 
Inspectorate in May 2019 to object to the order in which Oxfordshire’s Local Plans are 
being examined, citing rules in NPPF.

7. It is this council’s opinion that in order for Vale’s Local Plan to be sound, the exact, 
evidenced number of houses that Oxford requires in order to meet its real need should 
be determined before Vale includes them in Vale’s Local Plan Part 2. Oxford’s 
assessment of its housing need must include evidence that Oxford City has done all it 
can to accommodate its own need, including evidence that the use of land for 
employment sites over housing sites is justified and lawful. There must be a public 
examination of the Oxford City Local Plan to definitely identify the unmet need (if any) 
to precede any adoption of neighbouring authorities’ Local Plans to accommodate it. 
Until this is done, there are no exceptional circumstances to allow removal of Dalton 
Barracks and Shippon from the Green Belt.

8. Council therefore requests the leader of the council to write to the Minister for 
Housing, Communities and Local Government to:

a. Let the Minister know that Vale is assessing its options with regard to the Local Plan 
Part 2 and of council’s opinion as stated.

b. Point out that in Oxfordshire the various Local Plans are not independent of each 
other. That fact should have been considered in the examination process by ensuring 

Page 19



Vale of White Horse District Council – Council minutes 

Wednesday, 17 July 2019 Co.13

Local Plans that are part of another authority’s evidence, as is Oxford City’s Local 
Plan, are examined first. Current examination procedures are deficient. 

c. Point out that the Duty to Cooperate should include Oxford City’s duty to have a 
clear evidenced housing target before asking its neighbours to help meet its need. 
This Duty to Cooperate should run both ways.

d. Ask for the Minister’s advice about how we should ‘confirm or adjust’ our Local Plan 
Part 2 once Oxford’s unmet need is established, if our local plan is already adopted. 

e. Ask the Minister to explain to us how this Local Plan Part 2 can be considered 
sound and legal when the housing figures used are based solely on a ‘working 
assumption’ of Oxford’s unmet need, the Plan allocates housing development in the 
Green Belt in clear contravention of paragraph 137 of the NPPF, and the Plan 
removes Dalton Barracks and Shippon from the Green Belt without the exceptional 
circumstances that the regulations require. 

And to write to our two local Members of Parliament, explaining the situation and 
asking them for their support”.

The majority of councilors supported the view that the council should consider the 
implications of adopting the plan before any final vote. Further information was 
required on Oxford City’s unmet housing need before a final decision is made. Making 
a decision in advance of clarification on this issue could lead to allocated sites coming 
forward. Currently the unmet housing figure assumption has been used to justify 
building in the Green Belt and justify a higher housing figure for the Vale.

The view was expressed that the council had, via a press release, stated that a vote 
on LLP2 would be taken in the autumn. Support for the motion could jeopardise this 
commitment.

RESOLVED: 

1. To note the inspector’s Report of the Examination of Vale’s Local Plan Part 2, 
dated 25 June 2019. In his report, the inspector lists the four objectives of LPP2, 
one of which is to set out policies and locations for new housing to meet the unmet 
need of Oxford City. 

2. To note that the inspector (in paragraph 26) reminds us that the Oxfordshire 
Growth Board agreed a ‘working assumption’ that Oxford City’s unmet need was 
15,000 homes, of which Vale should supply 2200 homes over the plan period. He 
says (in paragraph 28) that this ‘working assumption’ is to be ‘confirmed or 
adjusted’ through the examination of Oxford’s Local Plan and the preparation of 
Oxfordshire’s Joint Statutory Spatial Plan, which is currently in its early stages. He 
reminds us again (in paragraph 92) that the additional housing requirement is a 
‘working assumption rather than definitive and warrants some caution in allocating 
sites in the LPP2’. There is no guidance or explanation of what this would mean in 
practice.

3. To note that Oxford City has submitted its Local Plan for examination, but the 
inspector has found some issues that require more work before it is ready to be 
examined in public hearings; he discusses the issues in his letter to that council 
(undated, but to be found on Oxford City’s Local Plan examination website page). 
Inspector is concerned that the housing figures are based on figures in the 2014 
SHMA, which are based on 2011 ONS population and household projections that 
‘are now a few years old’ (page 2). He also points out there may have been double 

Page 20



Vale of White Horse District Council – Council minutes 

Wednesday, 17 July 2019 Co.14

counting. Therefore, the housing need figure is questionable. This housing need 
figure ‘could have a bearing on the level of unmet need which would have to be 
accommodated by neighbouring local authorities’. 

4. To note that LPP2 allocates 1200 homes at Dalton Barracks, for Oxford’s unmet 
need. Dalton Barracks and the neighbouring village of Shippon are to be removed 
from the Green Belt for future housing development. 

5. To note that paragraph 137 of the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 
requires Green Belt boundaries to only be modified under exceptional 
circumstances. The inspector for Vale LPP2 says (in paragraph 29) that the 
housing required for Oxford’s unmet need must be close to Oxford, and much of it 
is to be social rented housing. The inspector says (in paragraph 55) that the 
number of houses to meet Oxford’s unmet need, and the fact that they must be 
near Oxford, demonstrates there are exceptional circumstances to justify the 
removal of Dalton Barracks and Shippon from the Green Belt.

6. To note that the Campaign to Protect Rural England wrote to the planning 
Inspectorate in May 2019 to object to the order in which Oxfordshire’s Local Plans 
are being examined, citing rules in NPPF.

7. That it is this council’s opinion that in order for Vale’s Local Plan to be sound, the 
exact, evidenced number of houses that Oxford requires in order to meet its real 
need should be determined before Vale includes them in Vale’s Local Plan Part 2. 
Oxford’s assessment of its housing need must include evidence that Oxford City 
has done all it can to accommodate its own need, including evidence that the use 
of land for employment sites over housing sites is justified and lawful. There must 
be a public examination of the Oxford City Local Plan to definitely identify the 
unmet need (if any) to precede any adoption of neighbouring authorities’ Local 
Plans to accommodate it. Until this is done, there are no exceptional 
circumstances to allow removal of Dalton Barracks and Shippon from the Green 
Belt.

8. To, therefore, request the leader of the council to write to the Minister for Housing, 
Communities and Local Government to:
a. Let the Minister know that Vale is assessing its options with regard to the Local 
Plan Part 2 and of council’s opinion as stated.

b. Point out that in Oxfordshire the various Local Plans are not independent of each 
other. That fact should have been considered in the examination process by 
ensuring Local Plans that are part of another authority’s evidence, as is Oxford 
City’s Local Plan, are examined first. Current examination procedures are deficient. 

c. Point out that the Duty to Cooperate should include Oxford City’s duty to have a 
clear evidenced housing target before asking its neighbours to help meet its need. 
This Duty to Cooperate should run both ways.

d. Ask for the Minister’s advice about how we should ‘confirm or adjust’ this 
council’s Local Plan Part 2 once Oxford’s unmet need is established, if our local 
plan is already adopted. 

e. Ask the Minister to explain to us how this Local Plan Part 2 can be considered 
sound and legal when the housing figures used are based solely on a ‘working 
assumption’ of Oxford’s unmet need, the Plan allocates housing development in 
the Green Belt in clear contravention of paragraph 137 of the NPPF, and the Plan 
removes Dalton Barracks and Shippon from the Green Belt without the exceptional 
circumstances that the regulations require. 

Page 21



Vale of White Horse District Council – Council minutes 

Wednesday, 17 July 2019 Co.15

And to write to the council’s two local Members of Parliament, explaining the situation 
and asking them for their support.

4. Motion proposed by Councillor Emily Smith and seconded by Councillor 
Debby Hallett: 

Council resolves to remove the current ‘vision’ of the council “taking care of your 
interests throughout the Vale with Enterprise, Energy and Efficiency” with immediate 
effect, and then develop a new vision statement that better reflects this council’s 
priorities as part of the work on our new corporate plan.

The view was expressed that the council should not remove the existing vision without 
a replacement. However, the majority of councillors supported the motion and 
welcomed the development of a new vision to reflect the new administration and its 
priorities.

RESOLVED: to remove the current ‘vision’ of the council “taking care of your interests 
throughout the Vale with Enterprise, Energy and Efficiency” with immediate effect, and 
then develop a new vision statement that better reflects this council’s priorities as part 
of the work on our new corporate plan.

The meeting closed at 8.40pm 

Page 22



Supplementary Papers

Cabinet
to be held in the Meeting Room 1, 135 Eastern Avenue, Milton Park, Milton, 
OX14 4SB
on Friday 4 October 2019 at 10.30 am

Open to the public including the press

6. Local Plan Part 2  (Pages 2 - 61)
To consider the head of planning’s report on the adoption of the Local Plan Part 2.  

Page 23

Agenda Item 7



Cabinet Report

REPORT NO:Report of Head: Head of Planning
Author: Nadeem Din
Telephone: 01235 534001
E-mail: Nadeem.din@southandvale.gov.uk
Wards affected: All
Cabinet member responsible: Cllr Catherine Webber
Tel: 01235 534001
E-mail: catherine.webber@southandvale.gov.uk
To: CABINET
Date: 4 October 2019

Local Plan 2031 Part 2 – options for 
adoption

Recommendation(s)

That Cabinet recommends to Council to:

(a) note the conclusions, including the Main Modifications, of the independent Inspector 
who was appointed to examine the Local Plan 2031 Part 2

(b) note the process followed to develop the options in relation to the Local Plan 2031 
Part 2, and

(c) accept the Inspector’s report and recommendation and adopt the Local Plan 2031 Part 
2.

(d) delegate to the Head of Planning in consultation with the Cabinet Member for 
Planning any minor amendments, typographical and grammar corrections to the 
documents prior to publication.

Purpose of Report

1. To provide Cabinet with the latest position regarding the Local Plan 2031 Part 2.

2. To inform, review and consider the implications to progress the Local Plan 2031 Part 2.

CONFIDENTIAL

Page 2

Agenda Item 6

Page 24

mailto:Nadeem.din@southandvale.gov.uk


Corporate Objectives 

3. The Local Plan is central to the achievement of the 2016-2020 Corporate Plan’s 
objectives for:

 A strong local economy

 Housing for people who need it

Background

4. The Local Plan 2031 Part 1: Strategic Sites and Policies was adopted in December 
2016. Part 1 deals with the larger ‘strategic’ sites and the associated policies. Local 
Plan 2031 Part 2: Detailed Policies and Additional Sites was submitted for Examination 
on 23 February 2018. Local Plan 2031 Part 2 (LPP2) sets out the strategic policies and 
locations for the agreed quantum of housing to meet Oxford City’s unmet housing need 
within the district. It also contains policies for the part of Didcot Garden Town that lies 
within the district as well as detailed development management policies to complement 
the Local Plan Part 1, replacing the saved policies of the Local Plan 2011, and 
allocating additional development sites for housing and other uses.

5. The Inspector held an Examination which comprised a series of hearing sessions over 
the summer of 2018 and identified a number of proposed Main Modifications to the 
Plan to make it sound. In accordance with the Planning Inspectorate’s Procedural 
Practice, a public consultation on the proposed Main Modifications was undertaken in 
early 2019, closing on 1 April. In preparing LPP2, the Council has undertaken 
consultations in accordance with the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 and 
The Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) Regulations (2012).

6. Following the conclusion of the Main Modifications consultation, the Council collated 
the 105 representations that it received and sent them to the Inspector for his 
consideration, in accordance with the process. Prior to the Inspector issuing his final 
Report setting out his recommendations, there was a quality assurance check (peer 
review) by the Planning Inspectorate and a fact check of the draft Report by the 
Council, feeding back any fact changes to the Inspector.

7. The Inspector issued his final report to the Council on 25 June 2019 and this has been 
published on the Council’s website. The report concludes that, with the recommended 
Main Modifications, LPP2 satisfies the requirements of Section 20(5) of the Planning 
and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 and meets the tests of ‘soundness’ as set out in 
National Planning Policy Framework 2012.

8. Government guidance on plan-making, following the Inspector’s final report, is clear on 
the expectation of the Council, noting;

‘While the local planning authority is not legally required to adopt its local plan following 
examination, it will have been through a significant process locally to engage 
communities and other interests in discussions about the future of the area, and it is to 
be expected that the authority will proceed quickly with adopting a plan that has been 
found sound.’1

1 Paragraph 058 https://www.gov.uk/guidance/plan-making

Page 3Page 25

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/plan-making
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/plan-making


This report helps to set out the options to progress the LPP2 and seeks to address the 
concerns raised by Scrutiny Committee at its meeting 19 September 2019 when it 
considered a similar report.

Process for developing LPP2 Options

9. Once an Inspector’s final report on the soundness of the local plan is received, usually, 
the next step for a Council is to make a prompt formal decision on the available options 
by virtue of the Regulations i.e. to adopt (with modifications, where recommended by 
the Inspector) the local plan, or to withdraw the local plan where it does not accept all 
the Main Modifications made by the Inspector examining its local plan.

10.Regulation 26 (adoption of a local plan) sets out the steps that a local planning 
authority needs to take if it adopts the plan under the provisions of Section 23 of the 
Planning and Compulsory Act 2004 (the Act). Regulation 27 sets out the steps to follow 
if it is withdrawing a local plan under Section 22 of the Act.

11.The Council agreed the Main Modifications to LPP2 for consultation on 13 February 
2019. A new administration was elected following the May local elections and the 
Inspector produced his final report on 25 June. The Council has effectively paused the 
process for adopting LPP2 to enable an understanding of the implications in this final 
stage of plan making. It is important for the Council to understand what its options are 
and whether options in addition to those identified in paragraph 9 above existed.

12.While the Regulations and the Act make clear that a council may (if it does not wish to 
adopt) withdraw a local plan at any time up until its adoption (through a formal Council 
resolution) no provision [either in the Act or the Regulations] is made for any other 
option except the two above options. Nevertheless, officers have explored whether 
alternative options exist and set out below what we believe are the available options.

13.Officers through their professional bodies, networks and through contact with MHCLG 
have investigated what alternative options may be available and under what 
circumstances these may be applicable in our case. While it is not uncommon for a 
council to seek to revise or withdraw an emerging local plan from examination based 
on a variety of reasons2, the withdrawal of a local plan following receipt of an 
Inspector’s report is very rare.3 

Options

14.The choices available to a Council once an Inspector’s report is received are restricted 
to a binary option as set out in the section above. The choices are; to adopt (with the 
Main Modifications) or not to adopt (either through, deferring a decision, passing a 
resolution to withdraw or by resolution to not adopt). The Council, as a matter of law, is 
not entitled, nor has any power, at this stage in the Local Plan process to make 
material or Main Modifications to LPP2. 

15.However, in the process of developing options, two variations of not adopting LPP2 
were considered as being not viable options. The option of adopting LPP2 without 

2 In 2019 examples include: Amber Valley (Council decided to withdraw), Inspector’s suggestion to withdraw 
and re-submit at an appropriate time (Windsor and Maidenhead, Welwyn Hatfield Borough Council)  
3 East Cambridgeshire Local Plan, withdrawn 21 February 2019 because the local planning authority did not 
agree with the Inspector’s Main Modifications

Page 4Page 26



following on with a review (immediate) was discounted since it would not provide the 
opportunity to the Council to prepare a new local plan to reflect its priorities.

16.A second variation is to delay making the decision on LPP2. While, on the face of it, 
deferring the decision on LPP2 until the conclusion of the Examination into Oxford 
City’s Local Plan as suggested by the Campaign to Protect Rural England (CPRE) may 
appear to be a separate option for consideration, it could be considered as seeking to 
bring about further Main Modifications to LPP2. The Regulations make no provision for 
such modifications and attempting to do so would be considered as arguments in 
favour of not adopting LPP2. Similarly, a decision to ‘do nothing’ can be interpreted in 
favour of not adopting LPP2. Furthermore, a period of four months has passed since 
the Inspector’s report was received by the Council and a decision to delay further 
would need to be viewed in light of the risks under Options One & Two.

17.While a decision to adopt LPP2 would be fairly straightforward, the option (and 
therefore any decision) to not adopt LPP2 can be taken in one of two ways. Although 
presented as two separate options in this report because of the subtle differences 
between them, the risks and benefits for both will overlap in many cases.

18.The options, in summary, available are as follows;

Option One)  Withdraw LPP2 

Option Two)  Do not adopt LPP2 

Option Three)  Adopt LPP2

19.Under the options, officers have sought to identify the key advantages and risks to the 
Council, as well as the timescales for progression of the next local plan. Officers have, 
under each option, made a recommendation as to whether to proceed with that option.

OPTION ONE: WITHDRAW LPP2

20.Under this option the Council takes an active decision to withdraw LPP2. While the 
Council may withdraw LPP2 at any time prior to its adoption, to withdraw it following the 
Inspectors’ final report, a sound planning reason(s) and a rationale should be provided 
as a basis for such a decision, including how or why the plan, which has been found by 
the Inspector as being sound, is not sound. Although not relevant in the case for the 
examination of LPP2, examples of potential planning reasons could include how the 
Inspector failed to follow procedure in relation to LPP2, e.g. not keeping the Council 
informed, not giving opportunities to respond to his queries, modifications which the 
Council did not accept, or that the Council did not agree with the Main Modifications, 
etc.

21.By withdrawing LPP2 the Council makes clear that LPP2 will not form part of the 
development plan for the district. This would mean that no weight could to be attached 
to policies or site allocations in LPP2. Any LPP2 document, including supporting 
evidence studies, made available by the council would need to be removed, but 
recognising that these documents are already in the public domain and would continue 
to be available from sources other than the council.

Page 5Page 27



OPTION ONE: BENEFITS

22.There are a number of benefits associated with the withdrawal of LPP2, and the 
preparation of a new Local Plan. It enables Councillors of the new administration (May 
2019) to establish their key priorities for planning in the district. The Council, to act as a 
place shaper for local communities, should set out its long-term vision through a Local 
Plan. As such it should respond to the latest challenges set out by government and 
reflect the aspirations of the Council. 

23.Another benefit of withdrawing LPP2 is that with the introduction of the Standard 
Methodology for calculating housing need, starting again by withdrawing LPP2 would 
provide an opportunity to revisit the housing numbers amongst other matters that were 
identified by Councillors as being deficient in LPP2. 

OPTION ONE: RISKS

24.Where the decision taken is to withdraw LPP2, then there would be a period between 
the decision to withdraw LPP2 and the adoption of a new Local Plan. During this time 
there would be significant implications for planning decisions as set out below.

An uncertain planning environment

25.A risk is the absence of an up to date Local Plan. The position would default to reliance 
upon the Adopted 2011 Local Plan for Development Management decisions. Policies 
which are dated will be relied upon when taking decisions on planning applications. 
While LPP1 continues to be in place, there would however be a policy vacuum left at 
the local level with the withdrawal of LPP2. The likelihood of this risk being realised is 
high given the timetable for preparing a new plan.

Lack of Five-Year Housing Land Supply

26.Withdrawal of LPP2 would leave the Council vulnerable to speculative development 
with the erosion of a five-year housing supply. As a consequence, the potential ad hoc 
development would cause concern for our communities potentially increase instances 
of planning by appeal as well as the associated costs to the Council. Based on the 
available information and government guidance, Appendix 1 sets the projections for a 
five-year housing land supply under several scenarios. The likelihood of this risk being 
realised is high.

Didcot Garden Town status

27.A decision to withdraw LPP2 might also undermine the Garden Town status for Didcot 
(DGT) should we no longer be able to demonstrate our contribution to the achievement 
of 15,000 homes by 2031. Although no sites relating to DGT are allocated in LPP2, 
annual grant funding, including to support the development plan, could be put at risk. 
The risk is considered to be medium-low.

Potential negative impact on infrastructure

28.The lack of a plan led approach and supporting Infrastructure Delivery Plan may also 
lead to situations where the required infrastructure is not delivered or for infrastructure 
funding not being secured. There is potential for a loss of section 106 contributions 
necessary for helping to deliver infrastructure including education, highway, healthcare 
and green infrastructure.

Page 6Page 28



29.The ‘tilted balance’ and NPPF provisions means that the delivery of housing has prime 
importance when considering applications for residential development and there is 
potential for permission to be granted even if the infrastructure which the Council seeks 
to secure is not delivered as part of the scheme. The likelihood of this risk being 
realised is medium to high.

Government intervention

30.Under section 21(1)(a) the Secretary of State has the power to intervene and issue a 
holding direction to prevent the Council from doing anything further in relation to the 
Local Plan Part 2 before it is adopted by the Council. Further, under section 21(4) of 
the 2004 Act the Secretary of State may require that the plan is submitted to him for 
approval, thus taking the decision out of the Council’s hand. The Secretary of State 
also has powers under section 27(5)(b) to direct the Council to consider adoption of the 
plan.

31. Intervention by government could come in one of several ways. There could potentially 
be intervention by government if the decision taken is to withdraw LPP2, which has 
been found sound by an independent Inspector. While the circumstances are different, 
the case of Maldon District Council’s Local Plan is an example of where the Secretary 
of State has intervened to take over the plan making process directly. The Council 
invited him to intervene following the interim findings of the Inspector appointed to 
examine the Plan. The Secretary of State appointed a different Inspector and following 
its examination approved the plan.4 A similar request, made by an interested party, 
could invite/request the Secretary of State to intervene in the case of LPP2 which is 
found to be sound. Intervention could seek to instruct the Council to follow a course of 
action set by the Secretary of State in the form of a Direction.

32. In November 2017, the then Secretary of State wrote to 15 local planning authorities 
expressing his concerns about their lack of local plan making under the 2004 Act. The 
letter asked the councils to “outline any exceptional circumstances, by 31st January 
2018, which, in your view, justify the failure of your Council to produce a Local Plan. In 
addition to this explanation, I would like to hear of any measures that the authority has 
taken, or intends to take, to accelerate plan publication.”

33.On 26 March 2018, the Secretary of State made a Written Ministerial Statement setting 
out the progress and latest position of the authorities that had been subject to his 
November letter. Crucially, for three authorities his concerns were not allayed, and he 
set out measures to step up the intervention process, as well as stating that he would 
actively examine what his intervention measures might be.5

34.The risk of intervention by the Secretary of State in the case of LPP2 is considered to 
be low based on information that intervention is almost always seen by government as 
a last resort, there is still the possibility that this assessment of low risk could be higher 
with the current national government.

4 See letter dated 21 July 2017, 
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/632156/L
etter_to_Leader_of_Maldon_District_Council.pdf
5 https://www.parliament.uk/business/publications/written-questions-answers-statements/written-
statement/Commons/2018-03-26/HCWS580/

Page 7Page 29



Neighbourhood Plans

35.Neighbourhood Plans have to be in general conformity with the Local Plan. Parish 
Councils or Neighbourhood Groups are responsible for preparing these plans and 
withdrawing LPP2 will mean that those neighbourhood plans which have been 
prepared to be in conformity with LPP2, may become non-compliant with the New Plan 
and its strategic policies. Additional housing, potentially through speculative 
development could be brought forward in Neighbourhood Plan Areas which was not 
anticipated since LPP2 sites are no longer allocations. For those areas which have a 
‘made’ neighbourhood plan the risk of their plan no longer being in conformity is 
medium to high and will to an extent be dependent on the new local plan.

36.Additional work would also need to be undertaken in relation to neighbourhood plan 
areas, as the NPPF 2019 requires, as part of the strategic plan, a housing requirement 
figure to be set for neighbourhood areas.

OPTION ONE: TIMETABLE

37.The Council would need to identify the sound planning reason(s) and rationale for 
withdrawing LPP2 and then notify the Planning Inspectorate of this intention.

38.The Council remains under a duty to prepare and set out a planning framework for the 
whole of our district. As such, if the Council withdraws LPP2, the Council will be 
required to start work on preparing a new Local Plan immediately.

39.An estimated timetable for progressing a new Local Plan is set out below.

OPTION ONE: CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS

40.To progress Option 1, the reasons for and against the decision to withdraw LPP2 as 
well as risks of withdrawing LPP2 need to be set out clearly. This is because the 
decision to withdraw LPP2, which has been found sound by the Inspector is likely to be 
challenged by interested parties through the High Court.

6 Once the Plan is submitted for Examination the timetable for the examination is set by the Inspector and 
may be longer than that indicated

October 2019 Withdraw LPP2

November 2019 – April 2021 Draft Reg 18 Local Plan production

April 2022 Consultation on Reg 19 Local Plan (six 
weeks)

6October 2022 – April 2023 Submission and Examination in Public

June 2023 Inspector’s report

July 2023 Adoption

Page 8Page 30



41. It is considered that the benefits of this option do not outweigh the risks and officers, 
therefore, recommend that this option is not taken forward.

OPTION TWO: DO NOT ADOPT LOCAL PLAN PART 2

42.There is no statutory requirement, under the 2004 Act, for a local planning authority to 
adopt a Local Plan that has been found ‘sound’ and no statutory timeframe is set within 
which the decision (to adopt or withdraw a plan) must be made. However, a decision 
would have to be made since the Council cannot delay indefinitely.7 It will be about 
what is reasonable in timescale. Having received the Inspector’s final Report, the 
expectation is, as stated in paragraph 8, for LPP2 to be considered for adoption by the 
Council under section 23(5) of the 2004 Act.

43.Neither the Act nor the Regulations make provision for taking a decision to not adopt a 
local plan that has been found sound. However, since the decision would have the 
same effect as withdrawing a local plan, sound planning reasons and rationale would 
need to support this decision.

44.Were the Council decision to not adopt LPP2, it could effect this by either actively 
deciding not to adopt LPP2 through a resolution or it could make no decision on 
whether or not to adopt LPP2 and thus in effect delay making a decision. As per Option 
1, sound planning reasons and a rationale for not adopting LPP2 will need to underpin 
the decision.

45. In seeking to delay making a decision on LPP2 until the level of Oxford City Council’s 
unmet housing need is determined through the Examination of its Local Plan the 
Council would need to take into account the Minister’s response to the Council’s 
Deputy Leader’s letter, in which the Minister ascribes “great weight to the fact that the 
housing need has been identified through a Strategic Housing Market Assessment 
(SHMA) of Oxfordshire” and states that these have “been found sound at two plan 
examinations…[and] described as ‘robust’…in the examination of a third”. A decision to 
delay adoption of LPP2 could impact on the Council’s 5-year housing land supply, 
recognising the requirements in Core Policy 2 in LPP1 and thus lead to speculative 
development.8

OPTION TWO: BENEFITS

46.The non-adoption of LPP2 would mean that a certain amount of weight would continue 
to be attached to its policies. This would allow time for a new Local Plan to be prepared 
while planning decisions could be taken cognizant of the LPP2 policies. Councillors 
would be able to set out their long-term vision and establish their key priorities for 
planning in the district through the preparation of a new Local Plan, in the knowledge 
that a decision to adopt LPP2 had not been made.

47.Preparing a new local plan immediately without adopting LPP2 would provide an 
opportunity for the new Local Plan to revisit, amongst other matters the housing 
numbers (unmet housing needs) and the underpinning supporting evidence base by 
using the Standard Methodology for calculating housing need; that the re-use or 

7 The risk of any unwelcome government intervention is set out in the earlier section of the Report
8 http://www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/sites/default/files/2019-
09%20letter%20frpm%20MHCLG%20re%20Oxf%20need.pdf

Page 9Page 31

http://www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/sites/default/files/2019-09%20letter%20frpm%20MHCLG%20re%20Oxf%20need.pdf
http://www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/sites/default/files/2019-09%20letter%20frpm%20MHCLG%20re%20Oxf%20need.pdf
http://www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/sites/default/files/2019-09%20letter%20frpm%20MHCLG%20re%20Oxf%20need.pdf


redevelopment of previously developed land or brownfield land to meet housing needs 
is maximised or to retain land in the Green Belt.

48.The new local plan would need to reflect the provisions on the revised NPPF, published 
February 2019 and any other changes until its submission. While there will be 
implications in relation to housing and employment land requirements, the revised 
NPPF places a higher bar on meeting the exceptional circumstances for taking land out 
of the Green Belt.

OPTION TWO: RISKS

49.There are fewer risks in not adopting LPP2, compared to a decision to withdraw LPP2. 
These are set out below. Nevertheless, it cannot be completely ruled out that other 
risks identified under option 1 would also not apply under option 2 as well.

Government intervention

50.The Secretary of State for Housing, Communities and Local Government has 
substantial powers to intervene and suspend, prepare or otherwise control the plan 
making process.9 Details of how and when government intervention may occur are 
provided in the relevant section under option 1. The likelihood of this risk being realised 
is low-medium.

Time and costs for preparing a new local plan 

51.At this stage, it is not possible to estimate the financial costs of not adopting LPP2 and 
needing to develop a new local plan, but potentially these costs might be substantial. 
Costs will include:

 Defending potential judicial review

 Costs of appeals – this only becomes an issue if major planning applications 
are appealed against a refusal or non-determination

 Developing a new local plan – including staffing resources, costs of studies and 
evidence gathering for a new plan at Regulation 18 stage, including 
consultation and examination costs. The Council could expect total costs to be 
in the region of £3m, based on previous experience, however a base budget 
already exists for the local plan and staffing resources, that could meet just 
over half of these costs.

Legal challenge

52.A legal challenge can be made by aggrieved land owners/developers with an interest in 
bringing forward their development in conformity with LPP2.  Challenging the grounds 
for the decision would be through judicial review. Legal challenge could also be brought 
by other parties who did not agree with the decision to not adopt LPP2. The likelihood 
of this risk being realised is medium.

53.Where a judicial review was granted and the outcome of the hearing was successful 
against the decision made by the Council, the Court could make a Quashing Order 

9 Housing and Planning Act 2016 amends provisions of the 2004 Act.

Page 10Page 32



resulting in the Council having to make a new decision as the original decision to not 
adopt LPP2 would no longer stand.

OPTION TWO: TIMETABLE

54.The timetable for preparing a new local plan, where the decision taken is to not adopt is 
similar to the timetable for Option 1, since the starting point would be the same, i.e. 
starting from a Regulation 18 stage.

OPTION TWO: CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS

55.A decision to not adopt LPP2 would mean the benefits of adopting LPP2 outlined under 
Option Three would not be realised.

56. If the Council does not adopt LPP2, it will have to rely on a dated Local Plan and would 
likely face speculative planning applications, which could be difficult to resist. The 
Council would then find it difficult to defend planning appeals, particularly in terms of 
demonstrating that it has a five-year, or three-year housing land supply.11 On current 
projections this would not be possible beyond this current financial year. Further, 
preparation of a new Local Plan will need to be commenced from the start (Regulation 
18) immediately after the decision is made to not adopt LPP2.

57.Officers advise that the benefits of this option do not outweigh the risks and therefore it 
is not recommended to take this option forward.

OPTION THREE: ADOPT LOCAL PLAN PART 2

58.Once LPP2 is adopted, it will form part of the development plan and carry full weight in 
the determination of planning applications. Adopting LPP2 would also formally replace 
a number of existing Local Plan 2011 Policies.

10 Once the Plan is submitted for Examination the timetable for the examination is set by the Inspector and 
may be longer than that indicated.
11 A freedom granted by the Oxfordshire Housing and Growth Deal allows the authorities to only demonstrate 
a housing land supply for three years while the Oxfordshire Plan is being prepared. 

October 2019 Decision to not adopt LPP2

November 2019 – April 
2021

Draft Reg 18 Local Plan production

April 2022 Consultation on Reg 19 Local Plan (six 
weeks)

10October 2022 – April 
2023

Submission and Examination in Public

June 2023 Inspector’s report

July 2023 Adoption

Page 11Page 33



59.On the basis that LPP2 has undergone significant scrutiny and has been found to be 
sound, a decision to adopt is the logical outcome. 

OPTION THREE: BENEFITS

60.The following benefits are over and above those set out in the preceding paragraphs. 

Development certainty

61.Having an adopted Local Plan in place provides greater certainty to all interested 
parties, including local communities and businesses, as to where new development will 
take place.  By the same token it gives the Council greater control over where 
development will take place, reducing the prospect of speculative development and for 
planning by appeal.  Planning Appeals take direct control of planning decisions away 
from the Council due to the fact that planning appeals are determined by the Planning 
Inspectorate. Planning Appeals can be expensive for Councils in that they require 
additional in-house and external resources together with the fact that the developers 
may also choose to submit an application for costs. 

62.This option is likely to be the quickest way of adopting a new Local Plan, provides 
greater control to the Council, provides certainty and potentially reduces the number of 
future speculative planning applications and planning appeals.

63.Progressing with LPP2 provides strength and certainty on the requirement for 
neighbourhood plans, allowing them to progress and shape development in their area, 
avoiding the need for early review and allowing them to contribute towards the delivery 
of housing to meet the need.

Partner support

64.An advantage of this option is that the emerging Local Plan is widely supported by 
adjoining Councils which helps to meet the legislative requirement of the Duty to 
Cooperate. The Statements of Common Ground included in LPP2 evidence base set 
this out, and they provide the evidence that the Council has in the preparation of LPP2 
discharged it duty to cooperate.  Additionally, an adopted Local Plan in place helps to 
address the County’s development needs as a whole and therefore reduce planning 
risk to our partners. 

Up to date basis for planning application decision making

65.The NPPF (paragraph 11) states that policies which are most relevant for determining 
planning applications are considered out-of-date for applications involving housing 
where the Council cannot demonstrate:

 A five-year housing land supply, or

 A Housing Delivery Test indicates that the delivery of housing was substantially 
below (less than 75% of) the housing requirement over the past three years.12

12 Transitional arrangements apply whereby in November 2018 and 2019, NPPF para 11 will apply where 
delivery was below 25% and 45% respectively. The threshold of 75% would apply from November 2020.

Page 12Page 34



66. In adopting LPP2, the Council would ensure its five-year housing land supply for the 
next three years.13 A flexibility and freedom granted to the participating authorities in 
the development of the Oxfordshire Plan 2050 is that only a 3-year housing land supply 
needs to be demonstrated. In this regard, policies that are most important for 
determining planning applications will not be considered out of date and the 
presumption in favour of sustainable development would not apply. This in turn would 
have the (immediate) effect of:

 Reducing the likelihood of alternative speculative development sites coming 
forward;

 increasing the Council’s ability to refuse inappropriate applications as well as 
its chances of success in defending appeals for inappropriate applications 
successfully.

67.While this is particularly relevant for housing development, having a local plan with a 
suite of up-to-date development management policies will lead to good, consistent 
decision making. 

Drawdown of secured funding

68.Where the HIF is signed and in place, it enables County Council to draw down HIF 
monies to deliver several infrastructure projects. Details of these projects is provided 
under the ‘Other Relevant Factors’ section in this report.

69.  Funding which has been attached to the delivery of 2,200 houses in our district under 
the Growth Deal would also be secured. Further details are set out in the section on 
Other Relevant Factors in this report.

OPTION THREE: RISKS

Policies may not reflect new Council’s priorities

70.  LPP2 was prepared and submitted for examination under the previous Council 
administration to reflect the priorities of Council at that time and therefore in areas it is 
not reflective of the present Council’s emerging priorities.

Potentially delivering higher number of houses should Oxford unmet need 
change/reduce/increase

71.With Oxford City Council yet to have its exact unmet housing need figure tested, there 
is a risk that in adopting LPP2, provision is made for housing for which the need has 
not been identified. Should the Examination of the Oxford City Plan find the unmet 
need to be lower than the working assumption basis for allocating housing need, the 
allocations in LPP2 may turn out to be not necessary to meet the requirement.

Legal challenge

13 The 5-year housing land supply includes sites which are linked to/dependent upon Housing Infrastructure 
Fund and/or Oxford Growth Deal. If decisions taken external to the Council impact on these in a negative 
way, it could impact on the 5-year housing land supply.

Page 13Page 35



72. Interested parties aggrieved by the decision to adopt LPP2 may seek to challenge the 
decision through judicial review as set out in the Regulations. The likelihood of this risk 
being realised is medium.

OPTION THREE: TIMETABLE 

73.A decision to adopt LPP2 would complete the LPP2 plan making process. Following 
the adoption of a local plan, it is normal for a period of time to elapse (during which the 
adopted plan is embedded) before a new plan is prepared. Although, it is now a 
statutory requirement to review a plan at least every 5 years and to review as 
necessary to consider changing circumstances affecting the area, the guidance is silent 
on when to commence preparing a new plan. 

74.As identified under the Benefits sections for options One & Two (paragraphs 23 and 
47), work to commence a new local plan immediately following the adoption of LPP2 
would enable the new administration to set out its priorities for planning. Since the 
starting point for the new local plan would be that of a recently adopted plan, it is not 
anticipated that a Regulation 18 stage will be necessary. However, if material changes 
are proposed and the development of new policies with supporting evidence, then a 
Regulation 18 consultation would be required. The timetable for preparing the new plan 
to include a Regulation 18 stage would be as set out under options One & Two. 

75.The indicative timetable for preparing a new plan at Regulation 19 stage immediately 
following the adoption of LPP2 is as:

OPTION THREE: CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS

76.Adoption of LPP2, which meets the criteria for soundness, would provide the Council 
with the opportunity to focus development in areas that meet the wider strategic 
objectives.

14 Once the Plan is submitted for Examination the timetable for the examination is set by the Inspector and 
may be longer than that indicated

October 2019 Decision to adopt LPP2 (returning to 
Reg 19)

November 2019 – 
November 2020

Draft Reg 19 Local Plan production

Spring 2021 Consultation on Reg 19 Local Plan (six 
weeks)

14 April 2021 Submission and Examination in Public

June 2021 Inspector’s report

July 2021 Adoption

Page 14Page 36



77.LPP2 provides a coherent approach to meeting future development needs and 
allocates sites to accommodate sustainable development in the district to 2031. In 
adopting LPP2, the additional sites and detailed policies will become part of the 
Council’s development plan and carry full weight in the determination of planning 
applications.

78.Where the Council resolves to adopt LPP2, a 6-week period will begin to run during 
which any person aggrieved by the decision may bring an application for statutory 
review of the decision in the High Court. Such a challenge can only be brought on the 
basis that there is material error of law in the Council’s decision to adopt LPP2. In such 
circumstances the Council would robustly defend the plan and its validity.

Financial Implications

79.There are no immediate implications flowing from the adoption of the Local Plan 2031 
Part 2.

80.Any decision that has financial implications must be made with the knowledge of the 
council’s overarching financial position. This is as reflected in the council’s medium-
term financial plan (MTFP) as reported to Full Council each February as part of the 
budget setting report.  The February 2019 MTFP and the budget report showed that 
the council was due to receive £474,000 less in revenue funding than it planned to 
spend in 2019/20 (with the balance coming from accumulated New Homes Bonus).  
This funding gap is predicted to increase to over £5.6 million per annum by 2023/24. 
Every decision should be made in recognition of the need to eliminate this funding gap 
during the next five years.

81.Where the decision taken is to either not adopt the Local Plan 2031 Part 2 or to 
withdraw it, then paragraph 51 of this report identifies some of the potential financial 
implications.

Legal Implications

82.This report has regard to the legal advice provided by counsel engaged to advise the 
council on the Local Plan. A copy of the advice has been circulated to all Councillors on 
a confidential basis. This is not for publication or discussion in public because it 
contains information in respect of which a claim to legal professional privilege could be 
maintained in legal proceedings and in all the circumstances of the case the public 
interest in maintaining the exemption outweighs the public interest in disclosing the 
information

83.On adoption, the Council must consider all relevant planning applications against the 
policies in the Local Plan 2031 Part 2. It should be noted that, whilst the risk is low, 
there is a short window for an aggrieved party to challenge the decision to adopt LPP2 
once a decision to adopt is taken. Should this occur, officers will communicate with 
Councillors as appropriate. Looking to the future the Council must review the Local 
Plan within 5 years of adoption. Options for the timing of such a review have been set 
out under each of the options above in this report. However, if Councillors wish to 
pursue a new plan imminently, officers will bring back a report regarding timescale, 
consultation and costs for Councillors to consider.

Page 15Page 37



Risks

84.The risks to taking a decision on the options are set out under the relevant sections of 
each option.

Other implications

85.The Local Plan 2031 Part 2 will have implications for all sectors of society and all wards 
and parishes of the local authority area. The Sustainability Appraisal systematically 
ensures that all potential implications – based on socio-economic and environmental 
criteria - are taken into account when preparing a Local Plan.

LPP2: Other relevant factors 

Oxfordshire Housing and Growth Deal (the Deal) 

86. In March 2018, the Council and the other authorities in Oxfordshire signed the 
Oxfordshire Housing and Growth Deal.  This committed the Councils to planning for 
and supporting the delivery of 100,000 new homes across Oxfordshire between 2011 
and 2031.  In return, Government provided £215m of funding; £150m for infrastructure 
projects, £60m for affordable housing, and £5m for the preparation of an Oxfordshire 
wide plan to 2050 and the administration of the Deal. The Deal committed the 
Oxfordshire authorities to submitting their local plans for examination by 1 April 2019.

87.The Deal also provided a three-year housing land supply test for the purposes of 
decision taking while the Oxfordshire Plan 2050 is under preparation.  The Deal also 
introduces a bespoke Housing Delivery Test for Oxfordshire to apply after 2020, in the 
first three years following adoption of the Joint Statutory Spatial Plan. The Housing 
Delivery Test is an annual measurement of housing delivery in each Council area. 
There are consequences, such as a presumption in favour of sustainable development, 
for not meeting the Housing Delivery Test.

Housing and Infrastructure Fund (HIF)

88. In addition to the infrastructure funding received through the Deal, Oxfordshire County 
Council (OCC) has been successful in securing £218 million of funding from the 
Government’s Housing and Infrastructure Fund (HIF).  This will contribute toward 
providing new infrastructure costing £234 million across the Vale of White Horse and 
South Oxfordshire districts.  OCC are finalising an agreement before they will be in 
receipt of any funding from Government. The infrastructure projects that will be 
delivered by HIF are:

 a Didcot Science Bridge on the A4130 – going over the railway line and Didcot 
A Power Station site and join the A4130 Northern Perimeter Road;

 improvements to the A4130 from the Milton Interchange by making it a dual 
carriageway;

 a new river crossing at Culham; and,

 a bypass at Clifton Hampden.

89.These HIF schemes are identified in both district Councils’ emerging Local Plans to 
enable and support delivery of growth across Southern Oxfordshire.  They are 

Page 16Page 38



inextricably linked to some of the committed and planned development in the Didcot 
and Science Vale area. The HIF and the Deal’s transport infrastructure schemes are 
intrinsically interlinked as they form a package of improvements to the Didcot area. 
Both funding streams are essential to a wider highway strategy to deliver growth but to 
also to mitigate the impact of permitted developments. 

Oxford’s Local Plan and unmet housing needs

90.Oxford City Council submitted their Local Plan 2016 to 2036 for examination on 22 
March 2019.  Their plan is being examined by the same Inspectors as the South 
Oxfordshire Plan.  Oxford’s plan contains a housing need of 1,400 homes per annum, 
with a capacity-based housing requirement of 8,620 homes.  Their plan is based on the 
rural districts accommodating unmet need, stating that Vale of White Horse district is 
accommodating 2,200 homes.

91.The 2,200 homes figure is based on a Memorandum of Cooperation (Appendix 2), 
prepared by the Oxfordshire Growth Board in September 2016.  The LPP2 has been 
progressed to plan for this unmet housing need and the Inspector concluded that this 
approach was ‘sound.’ This Council has agreed, through a Statement of Common 
Ground (Appendix 3), to accommodate 2,200 homes of unmet housing need from 
Oxford City Council.

92.This unmet need from Oxford City would include housing that would contribute towards 
some of the 100,000 houses committed in the Deal. In other words, the unmet need 
from Oxford City is based on the Deal commitments, and not from their “standard 
method” housing need. 

93.On 29 May 2019 and 15 July 2019, the Inspectors for the Oxford City Local Plan 
published a set of questions and comments (Appendix 4 and 4a). These comments are 
directed to the Oxford City Local Plan but could be relevant to consider when making a 
decision on LPP2. Councillors should bear in mind that they do not represent 
conclusions.   They state the following: 

a) Housing calculation: The Inspectors state that the Deal can be used as a 
justification for uplifting housing need.  They recognise that the Deal’s housing 
targets are based on the SHMA 2014.  However, they draw attention to the 
Deal’s delivery plan, which states this must be supported by an appropriate 
update to support plans through an examination (under the new NPPF).  They 
also state that the SHMA figures, on which the Deal is based, are “now quite a 
few years old”.

The Inspectors also highlight some concerns with Oxford City’s Objectively 
Assessed Need Update (2018).  This document attempted to provide a SHMA 
update just for Oxford, to validate the housing figures in the original SHMA, and 
hence the Deal.  They identify that the document could show the housing needs 
of Oxford are falling below the 1,400 homes per annum in their plan.  They state 
this could have a bearing on the level of unmet need for each neighbouring 
authority to accommodate.

b) City’s housing capacity: The Inspectors have asked the City to confirm the 
capacity of Oxford to meet their housing need.  They state the Deal identified a 
capacity of 10,000 homes, yet the plan indicates a capacity of 8,620 homes.  

Page 17Page 39



c) Site capacities:  The Inspectors have commented on Oxford’s assessment of 
each of their proposed sites’ housing capacity (how many homes can be built on 
each site).  

Other matters:  The Inspectors have identified questions regarding: whether the 
plan has been positively prepared; the effectiveness of the plan; affordable 
housing provision; policies making distinctions on the basis of the nature of the 
applicant; car parking; academic facilities and student accommodation; 
employment sites; local employment; and sustainable design and construction.  

Conclusion

94.The process of preparing the Local Plan has been lengthy, costly, and resource 
intensive. Local Plan Part 1 (adopted in 2016) and LPP2 have included substantial 
community and stakeholder engagement in conjunction with their preparation. The 
Inspector has now issued his final report on LPP2, and the examination process in now 
formally complete. 

95.The Inspector concludes at paragraph 130 of his report, that with recommended main 
modifications, LPP2 is sound and capable of adoption. It is noteworthy, that LPP2, with 
the Inspector’s main modifications, would largely be consistent with the Council’s 
submission to the Secretary of State. 

96. The Council’s options are limited to those set out in this report – either to adopt LPP2 
with the Inspector’s modifications or not adopt/withdraw LPP2. A decision to adopt 
would enable LPP2 to become part of the Council’s development plan and carry full 
weight in the determination of planning applications. It will also provide a framework for 
development in the district to ensure that growth is sustainable and meets the needs of 
the existing and future populations. 

Background Papers

1. Vale of White Horse Housing LPP2 Housing Land Supply Note July 2019

Page 18Page 40



Vale of White Horse Housing LPP2 Housing Land Supply

Introduction

1. Housing land supply is measured on an ongoing financial year basis and reported on in the Council’s Authority Monitoring 
Report and Five-Year Supply Statement – both of which are published annually. The options put forward for the Vale of 
White Horse Local Plan Part 2 in the covering Report could result in different impacts on Vale of White Horse’s housing land 
supply. 

2. This note sets out the effect these options may have on housing land supply over the Local Plan up until 2026/27, beyond 
2026/27 it becomes difficult to predict housing land supply as there are less than 5 years left in the Local Plan period. This is 
because to calculate 5-year housing land supply you need to have information on the housing requirement and supply for 
the following 5 years. LPP1 and LPP2 allocate the housing requirement and supply up until 2031, but not beyond, therefore 
2026/27 is the last year that we have 5 years’ worth of information. 

3. It is important to note that whilst we can confidently provide the 5-year housing land position for the current year (2019-20), 
future projections should always be treated with caution by their very nature, but they are what we expect to happen. 

4. Currently, under the Oxfordshire Housing and Growth Deal, all districts in Oxfordshire benefit from a three-year housing 
delivery supply, dependent on the production of the Oxfordshire Plan. 

LPP2 housing land supply projections

5. The covering report sets out the options for the Vale of White Horse Local Plan Part 2 (LPP2) as follows;

Option 1)  Withdraw LPP2

Option 2)  Do not adopt LPP2

Option 3)  Adopt LPP2

P
age 19

P
age 41



6. Figure 1 provides the housing land supply projections for Option 1 and Option 3. Projections for Option 1 show that if the plan 
was to be withdrawn the district would be unable to demonstrate a housing land supply from the next financial year, 2020/21. 
Projections for Option 3 show that a positive housing land supply will be maintained until 2021/22, with the district unable to 
demonstrate a five-year housing land supply from 2022/23. 

7. Option 2 will lead to either adoption or non-adoption of the plan. For the purposes of projecting housing land supply, it has 
been assumed that for Option 2 of the plan will result in the same scenario as Option 3 where adopted, whilst non-adoption 
will result in the same scenario as Option 1. 

Figure 1: LPP2 options housing land supply scenarios

2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 2026/27
0.00

1.00

2.00

3.00

4.00

5.00

6.00

Option 3 Option 1 5 year target

LPP2 Housing Land Supply Scenarios

P
age 20

P
age 42



Housing Infrastructure Fund (HIF) and Oxfordshire Housing and Growth Deal (the Deal) 

8. As is identified in the Cabinet Report the HIF and Deal funding streams are inextricably linked to housing delivery in 
Oxfordshire and the Vale, and if these schemes were not to be delivered as expected it would have a significant impact on 
the district’s housing land supply. 

9. Figure 2 provides the housing land supply projections if sites that are supported by infrastructure funding from either HIF or 
the Deal are removed from the housing trajectory, for both Option 1 and Option 3, and compares this against the current 
projections. This does not include sites related to the schemes that currently have full permission. The sites that have been 
removed from the trajectory have been provided in Appendix A.

Figure 2: HIF and the Deal housing land supply scenarios

2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 2026/27
0.00

1.00

2.00

3.00

4.00

5.00

6.00

Option 3 Option 3 with HIF and GD sites removed Option 1 Option 1 with HIF and GD sites removed Target supply

HIF and the Deal housing land supply scenarios

P
age 21

P
age 43



9. Options 1 and 3 with the HIF and GD sites removed both show that the Council would currently be unable to demonstrate a 
5 years’ worth of housing land supply, with the positioning weakening to a lesser extent for Option 3 (adoption of LPP2). 

P
age 22

P
age 44



Appendix A- HIF and the Deal sites 

1. The table below provides the sites that have been removed from the projected housing trajectories for the scenarios which 
assume HIF and the Deal are no longer applicable. This does not include all sites that are related to the HIF and the Deal, as 
those sites related to the schemes that have full permission have not been removed. 

2. There are also two sites, Didcot A Power Station and Land North of Appleford Road, that are related to the HIF scheme that 
are not included. This is because we do not have site trajectories currently included in our housing land supply due to a lack 
of information regarding deliverability. 

Housing site
Funding 
scheme Related Infrastructure Planning Status

Year homes 
are expected 

to be 
delivered

A4130 Dual Carriageway to A34
Clifton Hampden Bypass
Culham River Crossing

Valley Park HIF

Science Bridge

Resolution to grant 2021/22

A4130 Dual Carriageway to A34
Clifton Hampden Bypass
Culham River Crossing

North West Valley Park HIF

Science Bridge

Allocation 2024/25

A4130 Dual Carriageway to A34
Clifton Hampden Bypass
Culham River Crossing

East of Sutton Courtenay HIF

Science Bridge

Allocation 2024/25

P
age 23

P
age 45



Crab Hill The Deal Wantage eastern Link road

Parcels of land on the site have full 
permission and are under 

construction. Further phases of 
development require approval. 

2018/19

Monks Farm The Deal Featherbed Lane and Steventon 
Lights

Parcels of land on the site have full 
permission and are under 

construction. Further phases of 
development require approval. 

2020/21

P
age 24

P
age 46



Page 25Page 47



Page 26Page 48



Page 27Page 49



Page 28Page 50



Page 29Page 51



Page 30Page 52



Page 31Page 53



Page 32Page 54



Page 33Page 55



Page 34Page 56



Page 35Page 57



Page 36Page 58



Page 37Page 59



Page 38Page 60



Page 39Page 61



Page 40Page 62



Page 41Page 63



Page 42Page 64



Page 43Page 65



Page 44Page 66



Page 45Page 67



Page 46Page 68



Page 47Page 69



Page 48Page 70



Page 49Page 71



Page 50Page 72



Page 51Page 73



Page 52Page 74



Page 53Page 75



Page 54Page 76



Page 55Page 77



Page 56Page 78



Page 57Page 79



Page 58Page 80



Page 59Page 81



Page 60Page 82



Page 61Page 83



Cabinet Report
Report of Head of Housing and Environment
Author: Diane Foster
Telephone: 01235 422116
Textphone: 18001 01235 422116
E-mail: diane.foster@southandvale.gov.uk
Wards affected:
Cabinet member responsible: Jenny Hannaby
Tel: 07717271711
E-mail: jenny.hannaby@whitehorsedc.gov.uk
To: CABINET
Date: 4 October 2019

Budget for replacement CCTV equipment

Recommendations

Cabinet is recommended to:

(a) To recommend Council approve the transfer of £22,000 from the capital 
contingency programme and recommend Council to create a new capital 
programme for the procurement of new CCTV recording and monitoring equipment 
for the CCTV control room.

(b) To delegate the Head of Housing and Environment to award the contract in 
consultation with the cabinet member on completion of the procurement exercise 
subject to it being within budget.

Purpose of Report

1. To seek approval for the transfer of £22,000 from the capital contingency budget and 
recommend Council to create a new capital programme for the procurement of new 
CCTV recording and monitoring equipment for the CCTV control room.

2. To seek agreement to delegate the Head of Housing and Environment to award the 
contract in consultation with the cabinet member on completion of the procurement 
exercise subject to it being within budget.

CONFIDENTIAL

Page 84

Agenda Item 8



Corporate Objectives 

3. This work contributes to the council’s objectives of facilitating sustainable communities 
and running an efficient council.

Background

4. Vale of White Horse District Council manages the public space town centre CCTV 
schemes in Abingdon and Wantage.  The schemes are relied upon by Thames Valley 
Police to help with the detection and prevention of crime as well as to protect and 
locate vulnerable and missing people.  Teams within the council also make use of 
CCTV, for example when monitoring for emergency planning purposes in the event of 
flooding or other emergencies; and the car parks, environmental services and 
licensing teams when obtaining evidence during their investigations.

5. The CCTV control room is based within Abingdon Police Station.  The equipment and 
staff are shared with South Oxfordshire District Council.  The equipment within the 
CCTV control room is used to monitor all 29 CCTV cameras within the public space 
town centre CCTV scheme in Abingdon and Wantage as well as 57 cameras within 
South Oxfordshire District Council.  All cameras operate 24 hours a day, seven days a 
week.

6. CCTV is regulated by the Information Commissioner’s Office and must comply with 
data protection legislation.  The councils have agreed a code of practice which sets 
out the standards and procedures for the management, operation and use of CCTV.  
CCTV is only used in public spaces and recorded images are stored for 31 days 
before being over-written.  When we receive a request for footage, strict procedures 
are followed to ensure that there are legitimate reasons for providing it. 

7. We receive funding from Thames Valley Police for CCTV; for 2019/20 this amount is 
£46,919 which is shared with South Oxfordshire District Council.  Funding amounts for 
future years have yet to be confirmed.  

8. The existing control room equipment was installed in 2011/12 and has now reached its 
end of life and is no longer supported by the manufacturer who released an 
obsolescence notice for the analogue matrix in 2017.  This is making it increasingly 
difficult to source replacement parts when equipment failures occur.  In addition, 
Microsoft are withdrawing support for Windows 7 in 2020 which is the operating 
system for control room equipment, and the software is now approximately six years 
out of date and is no longer supported by the provider.

9. The existing cameras are analogue cameras which is now considered to be old 
technology.  Replacement cameras would be modern high definition digital cameras.  
These provide much greater image quality than the current analogue cameras.  

10. Due to the age of the existing equipment in the CCTV control room and the 
developments in technology over recent years, the equipment does not support digital 
cameras.  Therefore, the control room equipment will need to be replaced before any 
new cameras can be installed.  New control room equipment will be able to support 
both digital and analogue cameras so the current cameras will continue to be 
supported.  These cameras can then be replaced at a later date as required.

Page 85



11. The total cost of the new control room equipment is £65,000.  This will be shared with 
South Oxfordshire District Council based on the number of CCTV cameras per council.

Options

12.An alternative option would be to not replace the CCTV cameras and control room 
equipment and cease to provide a CCTV public space town centre scheme when the 
equipment fails.  This may not aid long term discussions with Thames Valley Police.

Financial Implications

13. Failure to replace the CCTV equipment could lead to increased revenue costs incurred 
from necessary repairs to the existing equipment.

14.Any decision that has financial implications must be made with the knowledge of the 
council’s overarching financial position. This is as reflected in the council’s medium 
term financial plan (MTFP) as reported to Full Council each February as part of the 
budget setting report.  The February 2019 MTFP and the budget report showed that 
the council was due to receive £474,000 less in revenue funding than it planned to 
spend in 2019/20 (with the balance coming from accumulated New Homes Bonus).  
This funding gap is predicted to increase to over £5.6 million per annum by 2023/24. 
Every decision should be made in cognisance of the need to eliminate this funding gap 
during the next five years.

Legal Implications

15. There are no legal implications with this report. However with regards to 
recommendation b, the award of any new contract and procurement exercise will need 
to carried out pursuant to the councils contracts procedure rules.

Risks

16. If the budget is not made available to replace the CCTV control room there is a risk of 
increase revenue costs to pay for repairs as the equipment becomes increasing older 
and less reliable.

17. In addition if the equipment fails and is not repairable the council will not be able to 
provide CCTV in our town centre public spaces.  This will create an operational risk for 
all those who rely on CCTV.  It is also a reputational risk for the council.  

Conclusion

18. There is a short term need to replace the CCTV equipment in the control room. The 
transfer of funds from the capital contingency budget will enable the CCTV equipment 
in the control room to be replaced to allow modern digital cameras to be installed.  The 
current equipment is reaching its end of life and there is a risk that if it is not replaced 
the CCTV service will not be provided.

Background Papers

  CCTV System Condition Report June 2019 – CDS Integrated Security Systems 
  CCTV report for Q3-Q4

Page 86



 

South Oxfordshire & Vale of White Horse 

 

 

CCTV System Condition Report June 2019 

 

Page 87



 

 

 

 

                                                                          

Our Ref: 

SP/XXXX/REPORT/7.0AW 

 

Date:  20th July 2019 

 

 

Prepared by:  

Andrew Williams 

Computerised & Digital Security Systems Limited 

Penbwch Isaf Farm, Penycoedcae Road, Pontypridd, CF37 1PU 

 

Prepared for:  

South Oxfordshire and Vale of White Horse District Councils 

Page 88



 

     Computerised & Digital Security Systems Ltd 

  Penbwch Isaf Farm, Penycoedcae Road 

   Pontypridd, CF37 1PU 

  Tel: 01443 405052 Fax: 01443 405061 

  Email: a.williams@cdssystems.co.uk 

 

RE:  REPORT ON PUBLIC ACCESS SPACE CCTV SYSTEMS INSTALLED AT 

SOUTH OXFORDSHIRE AND VALE OF WHITE HORSE DISTRICT COUNCILS 

 

 Introduction 

 

Further to our recent meetings and subsequent maintenance inspection visits regarding 

the condition and performance of the town centre CCTV System installed throughout the 

South and Vale Council Districts, CDS are pleased to offer the following report of our 

findings on the system. 

 

The Maintenance Inspections were carried out by directly employed CDS Technicians 

Matthew Fagan, Mark Sargeant and Michael (Billy) Westover, all of whom have more than 

10 years experience in such systems. The most recent maintenance inspection is the 

ninth since CDS have undertaken the maintenance contract works on this system 

 

 

General 

 

The system was found to be generally in good working condition with a number of minor 

issues (as would be expected from a fully operation town centre CCTV System), with no 

major faults or issues identified. 

 

The majority of the cameras were found to be a number of years old, some are possibly in 

excess of 15 years old, many are between 10 - 12 years old. The age of the cameras 

should now be considered a factor in their maintenance as spare parts are become less 

available – this has become the case with some cameras. The 10 obsolete Conway PTZ 

Cameras in Didcot were replaced in October 2014 with new 360Vision SpeedDome units 

and the majority of the Henley cameras were replaced in 2016. Proposals have been 

submitted regarding the replacement of the old obsolete PTZ Dome Cameras throughout 

Wallingford, with an option for HD IP Cameras. 

 

The Control, Recording and Monitoring equipment is the Synectics Analogue Matrix, 

Vigilant Technology Digital Video Recording System and Vigilant Technology Monitor 

Wall Control Solution. Synectics released an obsolescence notice for the Analogue Matrix 

in 2017 and Vigilant technologies have fully withdrawn from the UK market place, with 

ongoing support become increasingly difficult to access. 

 

These systems are in good working order with no current issues identified, however with 

the support from Microsoft ceasing for Windows 7 (and earlier versions) early in 2020, 

consideration must be given to a full control room upgrade. Having spoken with Vigilant 

Technology it was identified that the versions of Vigilant Software installed across these 

systems is now approx 6 years out of date. Vigilant have stated that their software is no 

longer supported. 

 

Page 89



Project:     South Oxfordshire and Vale of White Horse Councils CCTV Scheme Maintenance Report  

Client:        Vale of white Horse / South Oxfordshire Councils 

Date:         26/06/2019 

Our Ref:    SP/XXX/AW Report 7.0 

 

 

 4

If budget were available, we would strongly recommend the upgrade of the CCTV Control 

and Recording equipment be upgraded as a matter of urgency. 

 

We are aware that there have been discussions ongoing for a number of years regarding 

implementing a common CCTV Control and Recording System across the CCTV systems 

installed throughout the Thames Valley Police areas which will provide opportunities for 

shared working / monitoring of other areas etc. the Royal Borough of Windsor and 

Maidenhead (RBWM) have recently installed a new Genetec CCTV Control and 

Recording System and we are aware that other local authorities within the TVO area are 

considering implementing the same solution for their CCTV control and recording 

systems. 

 

 

Cameras 

 

There are still a number of Conway Domes installed throughout the scheme – Conway 

(as a company) went into receivership early 2013 and ceased trading and so it is no 

longer possible to get these units repaired when they fail. We have a small number of 

these units as service replacements which we may be able to use to keep the system 

operational but we strongly recommend consideration be given to upgrading these units 

to a newer unit, especially when considering the age of the existing Conway Dome 

Cameras – they should�be�considered�to�be�‘end-of-life’�and have been a constant source 

of failure over the past three-five years. It may be worth considering replacing a small 

number of Mercer Domes in order to make some spares available for when others fail – 

We suggest replacing the 10 cameras in Didcot (fewest amount of Conway cameras) with 

new cameras (possibly MIC1-550 cameras or similar) to make a spares provision as 

providing improved image quality. 

 

The Conway Dome Cameras are;- 

Wallingford x 15 

Thame  x 16 

 

If budget were available for improvements to the CCTV Scheme, we would strongly 

recommend consideration be given to replacing the Conway Dome Cameras as a matter 

of urgency 

 

There are a number of Bosch�(Forward�Vision)� ‘Metal�Mickey’� type� cameras� (MIC1-300 

and MIC1-400 models) installed throughout Abingdon and Wantage. The MIC1-300 

models are likely to approaching 20 years old, whilst the MIC1-400 units appear to be 

approx 6 - 8 years old. These units are good operational condition, but Bosch have (Sept 

2011) announced the end of support for the MIC1-300 and 400 units. 

 

If budget were available for improvements to the CCTV Scheme, we recommend 

consideration be given to replacing the MIC1-300 Dome Cameras as a lower priority than 

Page 90



Project:     South Oxfordshire and Vale of White Horse Councils CCTV Scheme Maintenance Report  

Client:        Vale of white Horse / South Oxfordshire Councils 

Date:         26/06/2019 

Our Ref:    SP/XXX/AW Report 7.0 

 

 

 5

the Conway Dome Camera (we have experienced very few difficulties in obtaining repairs 

on these units so far). 

 

There are a small number of Platform (shoe box) style cameras (4), consisting of mainly 

Shawley�Pan/tilt�units,�High�Quality�JVC�1/2”�CCD�Cameras and Pentax 15~1 AI Zoom 

Lenses – these units (whilst a few years old) are perfectly serviceable – they are made up 

of several component parts, if any component fails, it will normally be straight forward to 

replace it with a new equivalent component. These units are likely to be perfectly 

serviceable for another 2-3 years. 

 

As CCTV Technology is progressing, there have been large steps forward in camera 

technology with High Definition (HD) cameras now being ‘mainstream’ as production of 

replacement analogue cameras is reducing drastically – there are very few manufacturers 

who still manufacture replacement analogue cameras with production of analogue 

equipment likely to cease within the next 2-3 years, with this in mind, consideration should 

be given to replacing not only the analogue CCTV cameras, but also their transmission 

networks (current transmission networks are designed for analogue CCTV transmission) 

in order to be able to accommodate IP technology cameras in the future (HD, 4K etc). 

 

 

 

CCTV Transmission 

Images from the CCTV Cameras are transmitted back to the CCTV Control Room at the 

Abingdon Police Station mostly over BT Fibre Optic Circuits,� with� some� local� ‘in-town’�

cabling wholes owned by the Vale and South Councils. This arrangement works well, with 

no known issues, however this transmission network is limited to analogue CCTV 

Technologies and can not support the inevitable move to IP (Internet Protocol) cameras 

(HD / 4K etc). also, many local authorities are looking at an alternative the BT fibre optic 

circuits in a bid to save costs going forward. 

 

 

Control Room Equipment 

Within the CCTV Control Room, the system is monitored, controlled and recoded using 

the following equipment;- 

Synectics Analogue Matrix x2, 

Vigilant RAID 5 Storage devices x 4, (New 32 channel unit due to be installed) 

Vigilant 7100 Series Encoders x (96 channels), 

Vigilant Review Station x 2 

Vigilant NetView Monitor Wall Controller 

Monitor Wall consisting of 2 x 40”JVC TFTMonitors�and�2�x�LG�40”�TFT�Monitors 

Operators Spot Monitor – 4 x 17”AW monitors, 

System keyboards – 2 x Synectics Joystick Command Keyboards, 

 

 

Page 91



Project:     South Oxfordshire and Vale of White Horse Councils CCTV Scheme Maintenance Report  

Client:        Vale of white Horse / South Oxfordshire Councils 

Date:         26/06/2019 

Our Ref:    SP/XXX/AW Report 7.0 

 

 

 6

Vigilant as a company have withdrawn from the UK and support is diminishing with 

support likely to cease within the next 9 – 12 months. 

 

 Therefore, with this in mind it would be wise to consider an alternative control and 

recording system for the control room in the near future. A new control and recording 

system would allow new technology HD / 4K / Panoramic cameras to be utilised across 

the system in the future. Some local authorities within the TV P area are currently either 

using Genetec as a new expandable CCTV Control and recording system or considering 

implementing it as a replacement to their old analogue systems. 

 

The existing system is currently stable and operating to a satisfactory level  

 

 

Recommendations 

As stated above, the system is in good working order and generally good condition, 

however we can make some suggestions that may be considered to improve the system 

in the future;- 

1) Consider the future migration path of the existing analogue system to new IP 

based equipment – the Vigilant Recording Equipment installed in the control room 

is rapidly approaching ‘end-of-life’ - consideration could be given during the next 

round of camera upgrades to move towards the newer, higher quality IP HD 

Cameras, but investment will be required for the network infrastructure required to 

manage the newer technology cameras. 

2) Consider upgrading the current control and recording system to one which can 

accommodate the existing analogue cameras as well as the newer technology HD 

CCTV Cameras 

3) Consider replacement of at least a further proportion of the Conway Dome 

cameras – possibly with IP HD Cameras. 

4) Consider replacement of the older MIC1-300 Bosch (Metal Mickey) cameras due 

to age and obsolescence. 

5) The Synectic matrix equipment is now in excess of 15 years old and no longer 

formally supported by Synectics and Vigilant Technology have pulled out of the 

UK and so consideration should be given to the sourcing a new Graphic User 

Interface Control System and recording system, to extending the system 

functionality and�provide�‘future�proofing’�of�the�system. 

Page 92



1 
 

 

 

CCTV Report                

Wantage and Abingdon 

1 October 2018 to  

31 March 2019 

 

 

 

 

   

      

 PURPOSE OF REPORT 

This report provides information on how the district council’s CCTV cameras in Wantage and   
Abingdon are used in contributing to deterring crime, reducing fear of crime and increasing 
crime detection. 
 
The report is produced using information provided by the CCTV monitoring suite based in          
Abingdon.  It is based on information drawn from the record of occurrences.  A record of 
occurrence is reported each time a CCTV camera is used proactively to monitor a specific 
incident. 
 
We aim to provide this report on a half yearly basis to share information and help publicise the 
positive outcomes of CCTV.  We have 23 cameras operational in Abingdon and six in 
Wantage. 

 

      DATA SUMMARY 

Across the Vale, CCTV operators supported 841 incidents during the second half of 2018-19. 
 
The operators also produced 50 evidence packs for possible court proceedings, carried out six 
reviews of CCTV footage (a review is undertaken as a result of a written request) and 
supported 67 arrests. 
 
The table on the following page displays the most common type of incident monitored for each 
town during the second half of 2018-19, where CCTV was involved at some stage: 

 
 

Page 93



2 
 

 

* Miscellaneous refers to monitored incidents that don’t fit easily into categories that are 
listed e.g. A request from G4 security to monitor their staff attending a local bank. 

 

TYPE AND NUMBER OF INCIDENTS 

The chart on page three shows the numbers and types of incident the CCTV Operators 
monitored from October 2018 to March 2019 across both towns. 

MOST COMMONLY MONITORED INCIDENTS 
 

 Abingdon 
 

Wantage 

1 Shoplifting (98) 
 

Fighting and Affray (20) 
Missing persons (20) 

2    Miscellaneous* (86) Miscellaneous* (8) 

3 Anti-social behaviour (63) Disturbance (6) 
Traffic Prohibition (6) 

Page 94



 3 

 
 

P
age 95



 4 

 

CAMERA USAGE 
 

The following charts show camera usage for each town.  These indicate the number of 
times that individual cameras are deployed in recorded, monitored events. 
 
The number of times that each camera was used has been divided into three sections, covering a 
24 hour period. 
 
It is worth noting that for the period 11.30pm-7.30am, the vast majority of camera usage occurred 
between 11.30pm and 3.30am. 

 
 

 
 

 

Page 96



 5 

       

  ARRESTS, SECTION 34S AND OTHER OUTCOMES 

The chart below shows the outcomes the CCTV operators supported while involved in monitoring 
an incident.  The police use their discretion on how an incident is resolved based on experience, 
the gravity of the offence, the resources that are available to them at that time and so on.  Whilst 
we cannot always be certain whether CCTV was solely instrumental in an arrest or the serving of a 
Section 34 or a Penalty Notice for Disorder (PND), we do know the cameras alert police to 
incidents they may not have known about. CCTV also gives the police the ability to assess and 
allocate resources and priorities in real time e.g. should the situation allow, leaving CCTV to 
monitor incidents or offenders while officers attend other incidents. 
 
A Section 34 allows the police to move someone from a specified area for a period of up to 48 
hours if they believe the person poses a risk of anti-social behaviour disorder.  A PND is an ‘on the 
spot fine’ 
 
Actions on the chart designated ‘other’ usually means that the police either gave verbal advice or 
admonition or a non-recordable sanction, for example; replace items in a bin that had been kicked 
over. 

 
 

 
                        

 

 
 

Page 97



 6 

 

HOW CCTV MONITORING WAS INITIATED  

The chart below shows how many of the incidents monitored by CCTV were as a result of the 
following: a direct request from the police (police requests); the CCTV operator hearing about an 
incident on a police radio (police radio); request to review footage at the time of an incident 
(incident review); or initiated by the operator proactively patrolling the cameras (camera 
surveillance).  Only Abingdon has a shop radio scheme. 

 

 

 

 
 

  

Page 98



 7 

REVIEWS AND EVIDENCE PACKS  

When not tasked by police, the operators patrol all the cameras and focus on ‘hotspot’ areas.  All 
cameras are recording 24 hours a day, seven days a week and are set in ‘default’ positions which 
are agreed with the police as the areas most likely to experience problems. 
  
CCTV operators and the CCTV supervisor also respond to requests from members of the public 
and third parties under data protection legislation and subject access requests.  The most common 
request is to examine car park or road cameras for evidence of ‘non-stop road traffic collisions’ in 
which the complainant’s car has been damaged.  All such requests are actioned and replies given.  
These are not included in the data below. 
 
The chart below shows the number of evidence packs the CCTV operators put together and the 
number of evidence reviews undertaken as a result of formal written requests.  
 
Evidence reviews are checks through historical material.  The evidence packs are the recordings 
and statements which the CCTV operators produce for police, solicitors and the Crown 
Prosecution Service.  
 
Activity that monitors past footage but does not result in an evidence pack being produced is 
termed ‘a review’.  This may be, for example, that the footage does not show an event clearly 
enough to warrant making a permanent DVD copy for evidential use. 
 
One of the greatest advantages of CCTV footage is in obtaining a guilty plea at the early interview 
stage.  For many offences this early admission is due to the offence being captured clearly on 
camera and saves the expense of full trial at either magistrates or crown court.  

 
 

 

Page 99



 8 

 

 VIEWING LOG 

When authorised personnel (e.g. police officers) visit the CCTV room to view footage, the 
details are entered into a viewing log.  The following chart reflects the number of times this 
occurred between October 2018 and March 2019 across the two towns. 
 
N.B. These visits may or may not be followed by a formal written request for footage.  
 
 

 
 

 
 

CASE STUDIES  

The following examples of incidents dealt with by CCTV operators from October 2018 to the end of 
March 2019 were initiated by police requests, police radio monitoring, shop/pub watch radio 
reports and operator surveillance.  
 

Abingdon     

Our operator was able to identify and locate two men who had just shoplifted from a town centre 
business.  Details were passed to the police control centre and officers in the vicinity were alerted.  
Despite several attempts to avoid being detained, the two men were caught with several items that 
they couldn’t account for and were arrested on suspicion of shoplifting. 
 

Page 100



 9 

Our operator heard of a fight taking place in a location outside the town centre and was able to 
monitor the ongoing situation.  Officers arrived on scene and were able to calm the perpetrators.  
Our operator was able to review the camera footage and relay an exact account of what had 
happened to the officers via the police air waves.  As a result, one man was arrested. 
 
In the course of routine monitoring, our operator noticed a man in the town centre drinking alcohol 
from an open can and shouting at passers-by.  From information given to us by the police our 
operator was able to confirm that the man was breaking a behaviour order served against him on a 
previous occasion.  The police control centre was alerted, officers attended and the man was 
arrested. 
 

 
Wantage 
 
The police control centre had received a report of a man in the Market Place who was displaying 
threatening behaviour.  From the details given, our operator was able to locate the man and 
monitor his movements until officers arrived on scene.  Under guidance from our operator, the 
officers located the man in a local shopping arcade and he was detained. 
 
During the course of routine monitoring, our operator recognised a man who was wanted in 
connection with a previous offence and alerted the police control centre.  The man made off when 
he saw police officers attending but after a prolonged pursuit, with running commentary from our 
operator and officers on the ground, the man was detained and arrested. 
 
The police control centre requested that our operator locate a vehicle parked in the town centre.  
The vehicle had been reported to be parked dangerously close to a pedestrian crossing.  Our 
operator was able to pass details of the vehicle and confirm that it was parked on zig-zag lines. By 
reviewing camera footage and confirming that the vehicle had been there for approximately an 
hour, we were able to assist the police in making further inquiries. 

 
 

 
 
 

Date of report: April 2019 
Author: Steve Webb 
Contact details: tel. 01865 309417, email steve.webb@southandvale.gov.uk 

Page 101

mailto:steve.webb@southandvale.gov.uk
mailto:steve.webb@southandvale.gov.uk


Council report

Report of Head of Legal and Democratic 
Author: Steven Corrigan, Democratic Services Manager
Tel: 01235 422526
E-mail: steven.corrigan@southandvale.gov.uk
To: COUNCIL
DATE: 9 October 2019

Review of political balance

Recommendations
That Council:

1. approves the revised political balance calculation as set out in paragraph 6 of this 
report, allocates seats to each political group and appoints councillors and 
substitutes to sit on them and chairs and vice-chairs as set out in the appendix 
attached to this report;

2. allocates one of the Liberal Democrat Group’s seats on the Planning Committee to 
the Conservative Group;

3. appoints councillors to the Licensing Acts Committee in accordance with 
paragraphs 13-15 of this report and as set out in the schedule attached to this 
report.

Purpose of report
1. To review the political balance of those committees required to be politically 

balanced together with the Licensing Acts Committee and invite Council to approve 
the allocation of seats in accordance with the statutory requirements concerning 
political balance. 

Background
2. The head of legal and democratic was notified on 27 September 2019 that 

Councillor Ruth Molyneaux had resigned as a member of the Liberal Democrat 
Group. Council is therefore asked to review the representation of groups to ensure 
there is political balance across the relevant committees and panels of the council. 

3. In summary the council has a duty to ensure the following principles are adhered 
to:
(i) not all seats are allocated to the same political group
(ii) a majority group should get the majority of seats on each committee

Page 102

Agenda Item 9



(iii) the seats allocated to groups on a committee reflect the membership of the 
council as a whole

(iv) the allocation of the total number of seats on all committees reflects the 
membership as a whole. 

Strategic Objectives
4. This report supports the council’s corporate plan in that it contributes to running an 

efficient council. It is also in line with the council’s requirement to review the political 
complexion of committees and other bodies, having regard to the Local 
Government and Housing Act 1989.

Political balance
5. Following her resignation from the Liberal Democrat Group, Councillor Molyneaux 

has not joined another political group and stands as an Independent councillor.
6. The number of seats held by the various political groups is now as follows:

Conservative       6 (15.79%)
Liberal Democrat 30      (78.95%)

Non-group councillor       2      (5.26%)

7. The Local Government (Committees and Political Groups) Regulations 1990 
require a constituted political group to be two or more members.  The Green Party 
and Independent councillors have not formed a political group and are therefore 
designated as non-group councillors.

Page 103



Composition of committees
8. The ordinary committees and panels that are required to be politically balanced 

both individually, and overall, are set out below. 

Committee Members Comments
Vale Scrutiny Committee 9
Joint Scrutiny Committee 5 10 in total with South 

Oxfordshire District Council
Joint Audit and Governance 
Committee                        

4 8 in total with South 
Oxfordshire District Council

Planning Committee 9
General Licensing Committee 12
Community Governance and 
Electoral Issues Committee  

6 

Appeals Panel 3
Joint Staff Committee 3 6 in total with South 

Oxfordshire District Council

Totals 51

9. The revised political balance calculation and the entitlements to seats on 
committees are set out in the tables below.  Fractional entitlements of less than one 
half are rounded down and entitlements of one half or more are rounded up. Some 
adjustments must be made to ensure that the overall percentage of seats is 
correctly apportioned.

Group 
members/non-group 
councillor

Group 
members

Number of 
committee seats

Conservative 6 8
Liberal Democrat 30 40
Green 1 0
Independent 1 0
TOTAL 38 48(+3)

Committee Total 
number 
of seats

Conservative  Liberal Democrat

Scrutiny 9 (8+1) 1 7
Planning 9 (8+1) 1 7
General Licensing 
Committee

12 (11+1) 2 9

Page 104



Appeals Panel 3 (2+1) 0 2
Joint Scrutiny 5 1 4
Joint Audit and 
Governance

4 1 3

Community 
Governance and 
Electoral Issues 
Committee

6 1 5

Joint Staff Committee 3 (2+1) 0 2
Total 51 7(+1) 39(+1)

Council needs to agree the allocation of the seat on the Planning Committee, 
Scrutiny Committee, Appeals Panel, General Licensing Committee and Joint Staff 
Committee shown in brackets to the Conservative and Liberal Democrat groups so 
that each group has the correct number of committee seats. This will leave three 
seats vacant which should be allocated to the non-group councillors.

Council needs to decide where these adjustments should be made. At its annual 
meeting Council agreed to allocate a seat to the Conservative Group on the Joint 
Staff Committee, a seat on the Planning Committee to the Liberal Democrat Group, 
which was allocated to the Conservative Group, and a seat on the Appeals Panel 
which was allocated to Councillor Briggs. Council also allocated a seat on the 
Scrutiny Committee to Councillor Briggs as a non-group councillor.  By agreeing to 
retain the allocation of seats as agreed at the annual meeting there remains a seat 
on the General Licensing Committee which could be allocated to Councillor 
Molyneaux as a non-group councillor.

10. If the Council wishes to allocate any seats not in accordance with the political 
balance requirements it can only do so if no councillor votes against the proposal.

11. The proposed allocation of seats set out in this report and the appendix attached 
have been compiled in consultation with the group leaders and the non-group 
councillors.

Substitutes
12. Each political group is entitled to the same number of preferred substitutes as the 

number of ordinary seats it holds on a committee or panel, and up to a maximum of 
three preferred substitutes where it has fewer than three members on a committee 
or panel. All substitutes for the Planning Committee must have met the relevant 
training requirement, regardless of whether they are preferred or other substitutes.

Licensing Acts Committee

13. The Licensing Acts Committee is a statutory committee and is not required to be 
included in the calculation of political balance. The whole committee meets rarely to 
deal with licensing and gambling policy matters but a membership of 12 provides a 

Page 105



pool of councillors from which panels of three can be drawn to deal with hearings 
relating to premises licence applications and reviews, and gambling matters.

14. Council has previously agreed to appoint a committee in accordance with the 
political balance of the Council. The membership will mirror the membership of the 
General Licensing Committee and will, therefore, be politically balanced but will not 
in itself contribute to the total political balance of the council’s committees. As such 
Councillor Molyneaux could sit as a member of this committee. 

15. As a statutory committee with a specified membership substitutes may not be 
appointed. 

Eligibility to sit on committees and panels.

 Any member of the council may be appointed to any committee with the following 
exceptions and caveats:

 No member of Cabinet may sit on any Scrutiny Committee;
 No member of Cabinet may sit on the Joint Audit and Governance Committee;
 No member of Cabinet may sit on the Planning Committee;
 No member may sit on an Area Committee if they do not represent that area;
 The Chairman or Vice Chairman of Council may not be the Chairman or Vice 

Chairman of any committee or panel;
 No Cabinet member may be the Chairman or Vice Chairman of any committee or 

panel with the exception of the Joint Staff Committee;
 Most panels meet during the daytime, and only members who have some daytime 

availability should be selected for these panels. This includes General Licensing 
Committee and Licensing Acts Committee, which do most of their work through 
daytime panels.

Appointments

16. Officers have invited group leaders to submit the names of councillors they wish to 
sit on each of the above bodies. A table of nominations will be circulated at the 
meeting.

Financial implications

17. There are no direct financial implications.

Legal implications

18. These are set out in the body of the report.

Conclusion

19. Following the resignation of Councillor Molyneaux as a member of the Liberal 
Democrat Group Council is asked to undertake a review of the political balance on 
committees. The appendix to this report sets out the membership of each 
committee and panel and chairs and vice-chairs following consultation with group 

Page 106



leaders and the non-group councillors and reflects the appointments made at the 
annual meeting of Council albeit Councillor Molyneaux would sit on both the 
General Licensing and Licensing Acts committees as a non-group councillor. 

Background Papers: None.

Page 107



1

Council

Report of Head of Legal and Democratic and Monitoring Officer
Author: Margaret Reed
Telephone: 01235 422550
Textphone: 18001 01235 422550
E-mail: margaret.reed@southandvale.gov.uk
To: COUNCIL
DATE: 9 October 2019

Extension of term of office of 
independent persons for code of 
conduct matters

Recommendation:

That Council authorises the Monitoring Officer to extend the terms of office of Chris 
Smith and Martin Wright, the council’s independent persons for code of conduct 
matters until 31 October 2020 pending the receipt of further information on potential 
changes to the standards framework.

Purpose of Report

1. This report asks Council to authorise the Monitoring Officer to extend the terms of 
office of Chris Smith and Martin Wright, the council’s independent persons for code 
of conduct matters until 31 October 2020.

Strategic Objectives 

2. High standards of conduct underpin all the council’s work and the achievement of 
all its strategic objectives. The proposal ensures a continued independent person 
advisory service to the council on code of conduct cases.

Background

3. The Localism Act 2011 requires the appointment of independent persons who the 
Monitoring Officer must consult at various stages of the process when dealing with 
allegations of misconduct by district or parish councillors.

CONFIDE
NTIAL

Page 108

Agenda Item 12



2

4. At its meeting on 18 July 2012, Council appointed Martin Wright and Chris Smith 
as the council’s independent persons until 30 June 2017. 

5. These appointments were made following an advertisement, application and 
interview process and with a positive vote by a majority of councillors as required 
by the Localism Act. The Localism Act does not prescribe a time limit on the terms 
of office of independent persons and these were therefore within the discretion of 
the council.

6. On 17 May 2017 the Council authorised the Monitoring Officer to extend Mr Martin 
Wright’s and Mr Chris Smith’s terms of office, for code of conduct matters, to 30 
September 2019.

7. Since their appointment, both independent persons have attended training, carried 
out their roles diligently and gained experience from which the council can benefit 
for a further period.

8. Chris Smith and Martin Wright have been consulted about their terms of office and 
have both confirmed their willingness to continue working in this role.

9. As reported to the Joint Audit and Governance Committee in March 2019, the 
Committee on Standards in Public Life has recommended changes to the 
standards framework and the provisions on independent persons. It is possible that 
the role of the independent person will change and the duration of terms of office 
permitted to independent persons may be specified. There might also be 
stipulations on the maximum permissible number of terms to be served. The Joint 
Audit and Governance Committee will be advised of any such changes when they 
are known. It would be helpful to await confirmation of any changes to the role 
before recruiting new independent persons.

Financial Implications

10.The cost of implementing the code of conduct arrangements, training independent 
persons and meeting their expenses is met from existing budgets.

Legal Implications

11.The legal implications are set out in the body of the report.

Risks

12.None.

Other Implications

13.None.

Conclusion

12. This report recommends Council to authorise the Monitoring Officer to extend the 
terms of office of Chris Smith and Martin Wright, the council’s independent 
persons for code of conduct matters, to 31October 2020.

Background Papers

Report to and minutes of the Council meeting on 18 July 2012
Report to and minutes of the Council meeting on 17 May 2017

Page 109


	Agenda
	2 Minutes
	Minutes

	7 Local Plan 2031 Part 2 - options for adoption
	Agenda
	6 Local Plan Part 2
	2019-07-30 Vale of White Horse Housing Land Supply Note Final Appendix 1, 19/09/2019 Scrutiny Committee
	Oxfordshire_Growth_Board___Signed_Memorandum_of_Cooperation Appendix 2, 19/09/2019 Scrutiny Committee
	Oxford City SOCG Appendix 3, 19/09/2019 Scrutiny Committee
	Oxford questions and comments 29 May set 1 Appendix 4, 19/09/2019 Scrutiny Committee
	Oxford questions and comments 15 July set 2 Appendix 4a, 19/09/2019 Scrutiny Committee


	8 Budget for replacement CCTV equipment
	CDS CCTV Report - Cabinet background paper, 04/10/2019 Cabinet
	Vale Q3-Q4 2018-19 CCTV report, 04/10/2019 Cabinet

	9 Review of political balance
	12 Appointment of independent persons to advise on code of conduct issues

